

Carter, S., Kuhl, A., Marlow, S. and Mwaura, S. (2017) Households as a site of entrepreneurial activity. Foundations and Trends in Entrepreneurship, 13(2), pp. 81-190.

There may be differences between this version and the published version. You are advised to consult the publisher's version if you wish to cite from it.

http://eprints.gla.ac.uk/212040/

Deposited on: 25 August 2020

FOUNDATIONS AND TRENDS IN ENTREPRENEURSHIP

HOUSEHOLDS AS A SITE OF E NTREPRENEURIAL ACTIVITY

Sara Cartera*, Aniela Kuhla, Susan Marlowb, Samuel Mwauraa,

^a Hunter Centre for Entrepreneurship, Strathclyde Business School,
University of Strathclyde, Glasgow
sara.carter@strath.ac.uk Amiela.kuhl@strath.ac.uk sara.carter.waura@strath.ac.uk sara.carter.waura@strath.ac.uk sara.carter.waura.wa

^b Haydn Green Institute, University of Nottingham, Jubilee Campus, Nottingham, <u>susan.marlow@nottingham.ac.uk</u>

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT

KEYWORDS

1. INTRODUCTION

2. CONCEPTUALISING ENTREPRENEURIAL HOUSEHOLDS

The Household as a Unit of Analysis Defining the Entrepreneurial Household The Intertwined Business and Household

3. THEORETICAL CONSTRUCTS OF THE HOUSEHOLD

The Household as an Economic Unit
Household Decision-Making
Economic Perspectives on Household Decision-Making
Sociological Perspectives on Household Decision-Making
Household Decision-Making: The Child as Decision-Maker
Household Financial Allocation Practices
Approaches to Household Strategy

4. THE HOUSEHOLD IN ENTREPRENEURSHIP RESEARCH

Household Perspectives in Entrepreneurship
Household Composition and Kinship
Children in Entrepreneurial Households
Family Embeddedness and Household Influences on Entrepreneurship
Household Influence on Opportunity Recognition and New Venture Creation
Households, Kinship and Business Growth

5. ENTREPRENEURIAL HOUSEHOLDS: RESOURCES & CONSEQUENCES

Household Resources for Entrepreneurial Activities Is Entrepreneurship Good for Households and Families? The Financial Effects of Business Ownership Housing Assets, Neighbourhoods and Home Based Businesses

6. CONCLUSIONS

REFERENCES

- Table 1: Economic Models of Decision-Making Processes in the Household
- Table 2: Implications of Changes in Family Structure
- Table 3: Entrepreneurial Households: business portfolios of four cases
- Table 4: The Dimensions of Economic Wellbeing in Entrepreneurial Households

HOUSEHOLDS AS A SITE OF ENTREPRENEURIAL ACTIVITY

ABSTRACT

Entrepreneurial households have a central role in determining entrepreneurial choices, actions and outcomes. In this monograph we focus on the role of households in new venture creation and growth, arguing that our understanding of individual actions and firm level decisions becomes clearer if they are considered from the perspective of the household. A household perspective implies that the entrepreneur is viewed *outwards* from the context of their immediate family unit, and implicitly recognizes the blurred boundaries between the business sphere and the private sphere; business strategies are interwoven with and household strategies interwoven, and business decisions are and often made within the household. We review theoretical constructs of the household and examine the ways in which the household has been considered within entrepreneurship research. Not only is the household a vital component in fully understanding entrepreneurial actions, research attention should also be afforded to understanding of the effects of entrepreneurship on business-owning households.

KEYWORDS

Households, household strategy, household resources, kinship, entrepreneurship, business resources, business growth

1. INTRODUCTION

Entrepreneurship research traditionally views both the individual and the firm as decontextualized entities, with little regard for the family and household context in which the entrepreneur is embedded and from which the firm emerges. The view that the business and the household are separate institutions with few points of overlap is now being challenged. The development of family business as a separate but related field of enquiry (De Massis et al, 2012); the recognition of the importance of context in understanding venture creation and growth (Zahra, 2007; Welter, 2011); and recent studies focused upon the underpinning role of the household in business growth (Alsos et al, 2014a; Mwaura and Carter, 2015), collectively challenge the notion of separation between the businesses and households.

This monograph explores the interactions between business activities and entrepreneurial households, demonstrating that new venture creation and growth often hinges on the household-business nexus, and that business decisions are influenced both by family circumstances and prevailing economic conditions (Carter and Ram, 2003; Welter, 2011). The household is the smallest social unit where human and economic resources overlap (Wheelock and Oughton, 1996), and ; household strategies "can help to elucidate the social factors underlying economic behavior" (Wallace, 2002: 275). Hence, in examining the role of the household in new venture creation and growth, we explore contextual and processual aspects of entrepreneurship (Carter and Ram, 2003; Zahra, 2007; Welter, 2011).

A focus on the entrepreneurial household does not imply that we focus only on firms whose physical base is located within the home – though home-based businesses are a growing phenomenon. Rather, we argue that the household, from which the firm emerges, whether

physically located within the home or in external premises, has is a -substantially influenced upon by the business and erucially, business decisions are often shaped by household routines, choices and behaviours. Regardless of the venture's physical location, decisions surrounding start up, resourcing and managerial strategies and routines pivot around household dynamics – so time, space and household resource availability intertwine such that the demarcation between business and household inevitably blurs. The culture and evolution of the venture will correspond to that of the family as household membership, routines, resource constraints and behaviours change over time. Where the household has been mentioned previously within studies of entrepreneurship, it has usually only been viewed as a provider of a cheap and flexible labour resource (Ram, 1992). In this monograph, we argue that the household plays a more fundamental role in the strategic decision-making of the enterprise. In focusing on the centrality of the household context to entrepreneurial choices, actions and outcomes, as well as the interactions thereof, this monograph explores the role and importance of the household dimension within entrepreneurship.

In line with Shane and Venkataraman (2000), we adopt the common understanding of entrepreneurship as the activity of organizing, managing, and assuming the risks of a business venture. Accordingly, entrepreneurial actors engage with a range of activities to create and sustain their ventures. However, they are unlikely to do so in isolation; rather, they draw from a range of tacit and substantive resource sources to enact the business and sustain it over time. While the role of the family in this process is well established (Stewart and Hitt, 2012), we suggest this offers only a partial analysis. As such, the focus upon the influence and inputs from direct family members does not take account of the dynamics of household composition such as the entry and exit of household members through births, deaths, marriages, divorce, children leaving home or alternatively, how those in the household with no overt interest in

the firm may still contribute or indeed, hinder its operation. In adopting this broader analytical framework, a household focus also acknowledges the relationship between entrepreneurship and household dynamics and wellbeing, acknowledging the impact of entrepreneurship upon the lives and livelihoods of all household members, not only those involved with the firm (Jennings, Breitkreuz and James, 2013).

Thus, a household approach to entrepreneurship enables the conceptualisation of relations of people under the same roof while sidestepping the limitations of a family focus. This enables an extension of debate to analyse *household capital* (including financial, human, social, and cultural capital), *household composition* (and pertinent changes), as well as *household routines* (and disruptions) which may be identified as three key vectors that will directly, indirectly or interactively influence entrepreneurial choices, business conduct and the economic outcomes of a given enterprise. Of importance is that the business is closely associated with a particular entrepreneur. In turn, this link to a specific individual embeds the enterprise into the entrepreneur's household more deeply and without necessitating co-ownership by family members or other direct family involvement, such as the employment of relatives, as in mainstream family business research.

While a focus on households as a specific unit of analysis is relatively unusual within the entrepreneurship domain, other subject <u>discipliness</u>, particularly sociology, rural studies and development studies, have devoted considerable attention to the role of the household in economic development. One of the most influential studies <u>of households</u> (Anderson, Bechhofer and Gershuny, 1994) encapsulated the results of an entire programme of research, the Social Change and Economic Life Initiative, funded by the UK Economic and Social

Research Council. Over a five year period, teams from eleven universities coordinated three major surveys in six British towns and cities focused on the social and political economy of households, addressing "some of the ways in which households organize their economic activities ...and the ways in which they are thus able to sustain themselves over time, by gathering in and maintaining the resources (material and human) that they use and by deploying these resources in pursuit of individual and collective ends" (Anderson et al, 1994: 1-2). Whilest empirically, -this large-scale study is somewhat dated, it remains theoretically relevant in terms of critical analyses of resource exchanges within households, wealth distributions and divisions of labour. The absence of any focus upon entrepreneurial activity, such as self-employment and firm ownership, as a form of economic participation with specific implications for household resource use and decision-making, demonstrates the scale of social and economic changes over the intervening years. Technological and structural changes in the wider economy have resulted both in a growing precarity experienced by individuals within what were secure employment sectors, as well as a rapid and sustained expansion of the numbers of individuals engaged in entrepreneurial activity. Changes in employment trends, particularly increases in self-employment, coupled with the sustained growth in female educational attainment and economic participation, have brought profound changes to many households (Jayawarna, Kitching and Rouse, 2013). Contemporary analyses of the social and political economy of households would have to acknowledge the effects of entrepreneurial activity which now functions as a main, or subordinate household economic activity and which in turn, has informed profound social changes.

While the household remains a relevant, often central, concern within related subject <u>disciplinesdomains</u>, within the entrepreneurship domain it is <u>mainly most often</u> regarded <u>either</u> as a data-source in studies that analyse households in order to draw out and measure

individual entrepreneurial actions; however, this approach largely ignores the household setting. Alternatively, the household is more frequently incorporated as a necessary context for studies that focus upon entrepreneurship within developing economies. A search of the Primo Central database for the years 1980-2016 using the keywords 'households' and 'entrepreneurship' located 320 peer-reviewed journal articles, of which a large proportion focused on aspects of entrepreneurship within a variety of developing economies, typically evaluations of the impact of micro-credit or analyses of peasant and agricultural sub-sectors as sources of economic opportunity. Whileest studies drawn from a developing economy context contained an implicit assumption that the household would be the main beneficiary of such economic activity, it was typically portrayed as having little role in entrepreneurial development. Although the household as a necessary and relevant entrepreneurial context is central to this monograph, our aim is not simply to explore the household context; rather our focus is on understanding what actually occurs within entrepreneurial households. The goal therefore, is to examine the entrepreneurial household itself. This is achieved by reviewing existing household theories and constructs as they apply to entrepreneurial households. Accordingly, we explore strategies and power relations within entrepreneurial households by, for example, examining financial and non-financial resources used for entrepreneurship, how such resources flow between or are withheld from household members and the management and allocation decisions regarding incomes and outgoings. During this analysis we recognise how social ascriptions such as gender and ethnicity critically influence this process.

It has been noted that entrepreneurship research reifies the individual actor often at the expense of contextual factors (Ogbor, 2000; Welter, 2011). In focusing upon entrepreneurial households, we run a similar risk of reification, imbuing a character to the household as a collective whole. This potentially disregards differences in actions, resources, values and the

diversity of power relationships between constituent members of the household. Our justification for this is two-fold. First, we believe that a focus on the entrepreneurial household is a necessary corrective that offers a counter-weight to the dominant discourse focused largely upon individual entrepreneurial actors without regard to the household in which they are embedded. Second, we draw inspiration from Anderson et al's (1994: 3-4) large scale, longitudinal analysis of several hundred households which concluded that "...it is only in a tiny minority of households that the members are seeking to behave as atomistic individuals taking no account of each other – and such situations are inherently fragile. Most households, most of the time, develop highly complex sets of rules governing what is or is not acceptable behaviour by members. ...households in general have to coordinate and accommodate the attitudes, beliefs, and behaviours of their members. The sets of rules by which this accommodation and coordination take place emerge through social interaction and have the characteristics of an 'emergent property' which does not belong to any one member of the household." Hence, it is our intention to focus on the entrepreneurial household as an entity that provides a framework of normative behaviour and a network of social relations within which, we argue, most entrepreneurial decision-making - especially that undertaken at the early stage of a venture - occurs.

Given the widespread and sustained interest in entrepreneurs evident within academic, policy and popular discourses, it would be tempting to explore whether there is something special or specific about the households from which entrepreneurial individuals emerge. In fact, our intention is the opposite. The growth in self-employment and business ownership is such that entrepreneurial households now constitute a growing proportion of households within developed economies, and are taking an even larger share of households within the developing world (Kelley, Singer & Herrington, 2016). The relatively large proportion of

households that depend, to some degree, upon entrepreneurial activity suggest there will be substantial variations in capabilities, resources and aspirations. Moreover, there will be variations in their structural dimensions of size, composition and life-cycle. In other words, household engagement in entrepreneurship is commonplace, rather than exceptional, special or specific.

The value of focusing on entrepreneurial households lies in the ability to explore address questions that the entrepreneurship research domain, so far, has been unable to address. These include, for example, understanding the role of households and the resources either at their disposal or that can be commanded in influencing business decisions and routines from venture inception, longer term survival, growth and market exit. How entrepreneurial households construct a sense of collective economic wellbeing, given the inherent precarity of business ownership, and understanding how economic risk and insecurity is managed within the entrepreneurial household demands attention. Moreover considerations of the nature of rational choice within the household, and how and in what ways entrepreneurial activity influences financial allocation practices within entrepreneurial households are critical. These questions are explored within this monograph. As such, the household is a normative context for entrepreneurial behaviour which remains under explored. Entrepreneurship is an exchange based activity; thus, it is essentially social and so has to be analysed within a social context. Given the importance of the household as a universal setting for human activity, but one which is dynamic over time, space and place, it offers a generic foundation to study entrepreneurial activity while whilst permitting particularised examinations of diversity in how it is articulated. Consequently, to progress understanding of entrepreneurship, it is necessary to acknowledge that, as a unit of analysis, individual entrepreneurs are the visible embodiment of the household dynamic.

This monograph is divided into six chapters. Following this introduction, we commence by conceptualising the entrepreneurial household and define the term (Chapter Two), before considering theoretical constructs of households that have been developed within other subject domains and have evolved into the modern era (Chapter Three). In Chapter Four, we review existing analyses of the household in entrepreneurship research, focusing upon its influence upon the entrepreneurial process, but also considering the growth of home-based businesses and the home as an important asset in business development. Whilst most research exploring households and entrepreneurship focus upon the influence of the household and family on the business, it is also necessary to consider the opposite relationship. Hence, in Chapter Five we review the effect of business ownership on households and families. Chapter Six concludes the monograph, reviews some of the implications of a household perspective on entrepreneurship and outlines a future research agenda.

2. CONCEPTUALIZING ENTREPRENEURIAL HOUSEHOLDS

The Household as a Unit of Analysis

Although the family and household context have been identified as beneficial to the analysis of entrepreneurial behaviour, this approach is not without its difficulties and some conceptual issues require clarification. Households and families are not universal in form and the process of identifying and setting a boundary around the household or family unit depends upon the cultural context (Wilk, 1989). The cultural context similarly determines the form and nature of the household's relationships with other households and with the wider economy. Moreover, the ways in which decisions are undertaken and resources allocated and shared are 'logically inseparable from the issue of household boundaries' (Wilk, 1989: 27). Given the diversity of household forms, functions and membership, a universal definition of a household is challenging, though they are commonly described as residences containing 'a group of people who pool resources or eat from the same pot' (Beall and Kanji, 1999: 1). A household may include close family, wider kin and unrelated individuals such as lodgers or may be entirely composed of a group of unrelated individuals. Hence, concepts of household and family are not coterminous, but in practice they share common elements.

Wheelock and Oughton (1996) outline two definitions that provide a useful working guide to the characteristics and roles of the household. The first, based on function, views the household as "the basic unit of society in which the activities of production, reproduction, consumption and the socialisation of children take place" (Roberts, 1991: 61). The second characterises the household as a "group of people, their relationships and activities, who acknowledge a common authority in domestic matters, a 'budget unit', or a group who have a common fund of material and human resources and rules for practices and exchange within

it" (Messer, 1990: 52). While these concepts are universal, in practice households will present differently and will contain individuals with different kin and non-kin relationships, depending on place, culture and history (Wheelock and Oughton, 1996). Hence, the household-family framework is flexible and permeable; it expands and contracts over time. The fluctuating composition of the household-family unit reflects social and demographic conditions, including prevailing rates of births, mortality and life-expectancy, marriage and remarriage conceptualised as a household lifecycle (Tadmor, 1996).

An alternative definition focuses on households as institutions with a legal dimension offering an explanation for their persistence as a social and economic form. Describing a household as "a set of institutional arrangements, formal or informal, that govern relations among the owners and occupants of a particular dwelling space where the occupants usually sleep and share meals", Ellickson (2008: 1) identified their three "core liberal entitlements" as private ownership, freedom to exit from the household, and freedom of contract. While household size and composition varies according to cultural context, it has been argued that the small size of most households, typically based around a family unit, provides an optimum scale for efficient transaction costs and smooth governance based upon informality, reciprocity and homogeneity of taste (Ellickson, 2008; Swedberg, 2011).

Defining the Entrepreneurial Household

In focusing upon entrepreneurial households, we recognize these fundamental definitions but are concerned only with those households in which one or more members are occupied in self-employment or business ownership and where the households depends, at least in part, on current or future resources generated by these business activities. A focus on

entrepreneurial households explores how families and households interact with and influence business decisions offering equal prominence both to the role of family and to business strategies in understanding the development of the family in business. In considering the role of the household in entrepreneurial activities, we encompass family firms and firms physically based in the home, as well as plus the role of the household as a resource base for new venture creation. We pay most attention, however, to the intermingling that occurs between the household and the business. In so doing, we show how a focus on the entrepreneurial household can illuminate aspects of the entrepreneurial process that have hitherto been hidden by a focus on the individual or the (family-owned) firm as the typical analytical unit. A focus on entrepreneurial households is intended to complement, not replace, existing approaches in entrepreneurship studies.

Our goal is to demonstrate that analyses of individual actions and firm level decisions become clearer and deeper when considered them from the perspective of the household. The aim, therefore, is to look at the entrepreneur's world *outwards* from the household. Unlike other (employee) households, entrepreneurial households are differentiated by their central role in determining entrepreneurial choices, actions and outcomes. Entrepreneurial decisions and conduct can be seen to be rooted in the socioeconomics of the household in several ways. The initial motivations to start up, the provision of ongoing business resources, and the establishment of business decisions and routines may all be predicated on the needs and deeds of the household (Dyer and Handler, 1994; Brush and Manolova, 2004; Steier, 2009). Within this highly intertwined context, the demarcation between business and household may become blurred, as the culture and evolution of the business itself will correspond to that of the family as household routines, membership dynamics, and resource constraints and conveniences change over time (Mwaura and Carter, 2015).

The Intertwined Business and Household

The role of the household as a context for entrepreneurial action and a conduit for entrepreneurial resources has been acknowledged (Aldrich and Cliff, 2003; Steier, 2009; Alsos et al., 2014; Shepherd, 2016), but is not yet a mainstream consideration. That the entrepreneurial household remains under-researched to a large extent reflects a broader distinction within the management literature in which business and household have been traditionally regarded as separate institutions encompassing the different spheres of economic and family life. In contrast to businesses which supposedly make objective decisions and are results-oriented entities, families are characterised as motivated by biological and emotional imperatives and social norms that often appear irrational and unpredictable (Mwaura and Carter, 2015). While other business and management research domains can justify their lack of interest in the household by their focus on managerial activities undertaken solely within the firm, there has been a longstanding recognition of the socially embedded nature of entrepreneurship (Granovetter, 1985; Davidsson and Honig, 2003). This has been coupled with persuasive calls to embed research within the context of the family (Aldrich and Cliff, 2003; Steier, 2009; Jennings, Breitkreuz and James, 2013). Not only does the household provide a specific context "where normative systems (affect, altruism, tradition) and utilitarian systems (economic rationality) are combined" (Brannon et al, 2013: 111), it is well established that household and family dynamics "affect fundamental entrepreneurial processes" (Aldrich and Cliff, 2003: 574).

This is not to say that little is known about the economic importance of the household. Sociologists have long identified argued the importance of the household in administering economic resources that the household is the smallest social unit where human and economic

resources are administered (Wheelock and Oughton, 1996), and have argued that a focus on households can assist in understanding the social dimensions of economic behaviour "ean help to elucidate the social factors underlying economic behavior" (Wallace, 2002;275). Detailed sociological studies have provided a wealth of evidence on household economic behaviour. These include household strategies (Anderson et al, 1994; Wallace, 2002; Swedberg, 2011), livelihood development (Beall and Kanji, 1999), the organization of resources (Horrell, 1994), allocative processes within the household (Pahl, 1983; Vogler, 1994), as well as the effects of household structure, dynamics and kinship relations on economic actions (Mulholland, 1996, 1997; Ram, 2001). Despite the interest in household economic behaviour, most sociological studies have not differentiated between entrepreneurial, employed or workless households. Arguably, the sustained growth in the number of individuals engaged in entrepreneurship - self-employment or business ownership - implies a need to better understand the role of households associated with this specific and increasingly common form of economic behaviour (Wheelock and Mariussen, 1997).

Adopting a household perspective implies that one views entrepreneurs within the context of their immediate family unit, implicitly recognizing the blurred boundaries between the business and private sphere. These two spheres are often inextricably linked for entrepreneurs; domestic and business decisions are both made within the household whilst in turn, business and household strategies are interwoven (Aldrich and Cliff, 2003). Hence, the decision to found a new business, start an additional enterprise or invest household resources to grow an existing enterprise may be the outcome of a household, rather than an individual or business strategy (Alsos, Carter and Ljunggren, 2014). As Steier (2009: 274) argued, "Households perform a more consequential function in the incubation of new ventures than is commonly understood". Unpacking the relationship between the business and the household

may also help illuminate complex situations where household wellbeing is profoundly enmeshed in the economic choices and activities of the entrepreneur (Carter, 2011). This may in turn enable the formulation of more conceptually grounded empirical studies as well as more instructive inferences and policy implications on the role of entrepreneurship in enhancing the wellbeing of households, within broader spatial and societal development. Hence, focusing on the entrepreneurial household addresses some of the omissions of the entrepreneurship subject domain by focusing attention on household dynamics and strategies, kinship relations, and the role of the household in recognizing opportunities and providing resources to new and existing ventures (Alsos et al, 2014).

Although there are obvious links between entrepreneurial households and family businesses, there are notable differences, not least because a focus on entrepreneurial households claims the household rather than the business as the analytical unit, even when the business is family-owned and operated. In focusing upon the entrepreneur within the context of the household, we are deliberately not focusing on family businesses, but we do examine the family in business – an important distinction. There is also a need to make a distinction between a household and a family. While the two concepts overlap, A –a focus on the household allows consideration of economic activities and resources, work and residence, while a focus on the family is often confined to issues such kinship and affinal relationships that bind individuals together (Gullestad, 1984; Wiborg, 1995; Chua, Chrisman and Sharma, 1999). As Swedberg (2011: 23) explains "one does not have to identify the household with a family household ... the household can be seen as a social institution that goes well beyond it". Household structure is a broader unit of analysis than family structure and while it includes people that may or may not be family members, it typically comprises the nuclear or extended family (Brush and Manolova, 2004).

The use of the household as a unit of analysis has strong theoretical roots within the entrepreneurship domain. Aldrich and Cliff's (2003) call for a family embeddedness perspective in entrepreneurship research has become one of the classic texts within the domain, cited as a justification for a focus on the family as a key influence upon entrepreneurial attitudes and behaviours. In presenting a socio-historical analysis of changes in family size, structure and composition, roles and relationships and considering the likely effects of contemporary families on business ventures, Aldrich and Cliff (2003) recognise the inherent difficulties in defining and operationalizing the term 'family'. Within studies of organizational founders, they recommend using as wide a definition as possible as historical conceptions of what constitutes a family have changed dramatically over the past century. They conclude by advising that researchers interested in studying the effects of family on businesses and business on family to should actually focus on the household. "We suggest focusing on households, regardless of size, and not simply multi-person units in which two or more people are related. Many of the new business opportunities that will emerge in the twenty-first century will reflect a changing mix of household forms, which increasingly include single people and multiple unrelated people under the same roof. Similarly, patterns of family formation and dissolution have created extensive kinship networks that cut across household boundaries, creating 'business families' that may include multiple single-person households and family members living elsewhere" (Aldrich and Cliff, 2003: 592). Despite their considered is recommendation, few researchers adopting the family embeddedness perspective have focused on households, preferring to focus on either the individual or the family business. As a result, there are still relatively few studies of the entrepreneurial household.

While we concur with Aldrich and Cliff's (2003) recommendation for using the household as a mechanism for examining the effect of family on business formation and growth and in understanding the effect of business ownership on families (Jennings, Breitkreuz, and James, 2013), it is also important that the entrepreneurial household is not viewed uncritically. The household is clearly instrumental in start-up decisions and activities and may provide access to low cost resources that reduce the risk and uncertainty of new ventures, but the household can also act as a potential hindrance to entrepreneurial action (Alsos et al. 2014). In analysing the role the household plays in the emergence of new ventures and in encouraging further research into the household-business relationship, it is not our intention to present an overly optimistic or romantic view of household-business dynamics. Studies have demonstrated that while entrepreneurial households are a source of business opportunities and resources, these resources may be inappropriate or insufficient and so, may prove to be liabilities (Alsos and Carter, 2006; Steier, 2009). Our knowledge of the effect of households on business development and growth is limited, as is our understanding of the effect of the businesses on household's social and economic well-being (Carter, 2011; Jennings et al, 2013). Regardless of wWhether its effect is beneficial or detrimental, it is clear that household dynamics have a profound influence on the creation, sustainability and growth of the venture (Steier, 2009; Brush and Manolova, 2004).

3. THEORETICAL CONSTRUCTS OF THE HOUSEHOLD

The Household as an Economic Unit

Historical analysis characterises household production as commonplace, small scale, private and opaque (Tadmor, 1996; Kay, 2009). Before the emergence of capitalist production, traditional economic activity was based on the model of the household and its integration with the economic system through the modes of production, distribution and exchange. As Swedberg (2011:22) reminds us, Max Weber's classic text Economy and Society described the modern firm as emerging from the family household. These considerations, and a focus on the household as the fundamental economic institution, are apparent in many studies examining the origins of family and household formation, even within early societies. For instance, anthropological studies of indigenous societies revealed the household as a simple economic organisation with divisions of labour, specialisation and barter exchange (Malinowski, 1921; Reid, 1934). In ancient Greece, the economic analyses of everyday life were formulated around the subjects of household resource management (oeconomic) and related to profit-making and exchange (chrematistic) (Swedberg, 2011). Ancient Roman society has been characterised as an early form of an agricultural capitalistic system, selling surplus goods through a network of trade relations (Reid, 1934; Tenney, 2006), while in medieval England many urban households comprised specialised craftsmen with workshops attached to the home (Reid, 1934; Rees Joes et al, 2007). In her critical analysis of women's contribution to household economies from the 17th Century to the 1930s, Rowbotham (1976) describes the household as a site of joint venturing. Prior to the advent of industrial capitalism, the roles of men and women as social and economic actors were necessarily intertwined to generate household incomes. With the advent of capitalism, 'work' became a waged activity undertaken outside of the household; this prompted the gradual exclusion of women from the public sphere of waged work and their association with the home which became a devalued feminised site of consumption, rather than production. Despite evidence of the continued, if increasingly hidden, role of women as household producers making an essential contribution to the family income largely through home based self employment, the assumptions of a separation between the domestic [household] and productive [employment] sphere has become embedded in normative assumptions (Spaargaren and Van Vliet, 2000).

The disconnection of the household from its economic function was a focus for early sociological analyses. Weber contrasted 'householding' and its related concern with consumption, satisfaction of needs, budgetary management and wealth, with the 'profitmaking' firm oriented towards control over goods, capital and capital accounting. While householding and profit-making constitute different types of economic action, they were not necessarily exclusionary. Swedberg (2011: 22) quotes Weber's description of an individual's action where householding and profit-making are "so intimately intertwined, and in the past have typically been so, that only the concluding act - namely the sale or the consumption of the product - can serve as a basis for interpreting the meaning of the action". Parsons (1944) described how progressive industrialisation and urbanisation significantly changed the structure of modern families from extended with strong ties that bound together multiple generations, to nuclear with decreased size and composition. Viewing the nuclear family as the natural consequence of the new economic system, Parsons argued that industrialisation introduced a specialized division of labour with certain skills required in different places at different times. Nuclear families, freed from the obligations of wider kin, were more flexible and geographically mobile and therefore, better able to adapt to the requirements of modern industrial society. The transition in the size and composition of families also impacted upon their primary role, changing it from social-institutional to emotional-supportive. Within Parsons' framework, nuclear families retained only two 'basic and irreducible functions'; the socialisation of children through the reproduction of values and norms and the stabilisation of the adult personalities within its boundaries. The economic function was taken over by other agencies, and the nuclear family was no longer seen as an economic unit of production and instead emerged as a unit of consumption. Within this functional model, clear sex role divisions emerged; women were positioned as the most appropriate carers – socialising children into behaviours reflecting normative standards. In addition, they supplied emotional support for male partners undertaking an economic function. Thus, women undertook a caring and restorative function whilst men acted as primary wage earners motivated to provide for their family and comforted by the solace of the household.

A focus on the household's economic function was revived by Becker's (1965) work on New Home Economics (NHE), analysing decisions made by households regarding resource allocation, including consumption, labour supply, transportation, fertility and health (Mincer, 1962; Becker, 1965). Home production became the central focus of interest within NHE, and theoretical and econometric methods of analysis developed for the study of production by firms were applied to the household (Becker, 1965). Within the household, production was seen to have a dual nature; that which was specialised and competitive, and where the means of production and subsistence was purchased, was best characterised as simple commodity production (Friedmann, 1978). In contrast, NHE drew attention to self-consumption (non-market production) by the family unit, i.e. the direct production of commodities and services within the household by self-provisioning (e.g. by preparing food) and self-servicing (e.g. child-care) (Becker, 1960, 1965; Mincer, 1962; Anderson et al, 1994).

According to Pahl (1984) and Mingione (1985), household work can be broken down into domestic work consisting of housework and caring, and extra self-consumption (non-market production). Extra self-consumption is distinguished by the fact that although these goods and services could be purchased on the market, the work is undertaken within the household on an unpaid basis (Wheelock and Oughton, 1996). Thus, the traditional view of the household as the place for consumption and as the decision unit for factor supply was abandoned in favour of a focus on the household as the production place of the basic commodities (Becker, 1960; Mincer, 1962; Becker, 1965). Moreover, female labour supply was no longer seen as an isolated decision, but as a result of an optimal time allocation within the household utilising comparative advantages in production of all family members (Wheelock and Oughton, 1996).

As a primary indicator of living standards, consumption within a household sphere requires further examination. The original referent for the term 'consumption' was to those basic processes through which humans keep themselves alive (Campbell, 1995), whereas in conventional economic terms consumption is considered a good providing positive utility, so that spending income becomes a proxy for obtaining well-being (Oughton and Wheelock, 2006). Individually as well as within a household, consumption fulfils a wide range of personal and social functions. For example, it commonly satisfies needs or indulges desires, it compensates the individual for feelings of inferiority, insecurity or loss, or symbolises achievement, success or power and communicates social distinctions or reinforces relationships of superiority and inferiority between individuals or groups. Consumption can also, on some occasions, express attitudes or states of mind, or communicate specific messages from one person to another, and may be instrumental in creating or confirming an individual's sense of self or personal identity (Campbell, 1995).

The study of household consumption is of particular interest as it helps to unlock the 'black box' of the household (Campbell, 1995). The idea that the modern family's relationship with the economy operates to a large degree through its function as a unit of consumption has been accepted by a wide range of scholars and observed across different fields (Parsons, 1944; Close and Collins, 1985; Wheelock and Oughton, 1996). This implies that the family or household is regarded as a single unit of consumption; whilst this approach is typically adopted in classical economics where households are effectively treated as if individuals, it ignores complex intra-familial processes which in practice directly affect consumption (Campbell, 1995). This debate has focussed attention on the economic interactions within the household, complementing sociological debates on the power relations between household members.

The idea that households behave as a single unit within which resources are shared unproblematically among members was challenged by Jan Pahl's (1989) pioneering studies of money and marriage. Deconstructing the unified view of the household and raising fundamental questions as to who decides how household income is divided, who spends it and who benefits from expenditure, revealed deep and gendered inequalities in the control, management and distribution of household resources (Pahl, 1989). The household is now widely understood to be a unit in which each member has different interests, power bases, and goals, which are reconciled through complex processes including negotiation, coercion and bargaining (Sen, 1990; Wilk, 2001). Hence, it is necessary to understand decision-making processes within the household as a power relationship channelling resource flows in order to fully understand how it functions as a consumption site (Charles and Kerr, 1988).

Household Decision-Making

In a traditional economic sense, production performs the instrumental function of bringing in a household income; consumption involves using that income; whereas the distribution of consumption goods within the household is based on a calculus of economic gain (Mincer 1962; Becker 1965). Hence both consumption and production are governed by formal rationality. When people behave according to the rules of formal rationality they are calculating the best way of meeting given needs by quantifiable means, that is, they are behaving according to instrumental values (Weber 1968). However, when production and consumption are viewed in terms of social relations, a new kind of substantive rationality, the use of particular values to determine actions, can be introduced as an additional analytical tool (Oughton and Wheelock, 2006). When people act in terms of substantive rationality, there is space for intrinsic values to be included. Both production and consumption incorporate social relations; hence, both can be viewed in terms of social relationships - relationships that are embodied in work.

Production and consumption each have both instrumental and intrinsic value, and are therefore, difficult to differentiate. Individuals, drawing on substantive and formal rationalities, make decisions about their production and consumption activities taking both aspects of value into account. These decision-making processes are framed within the context of household membership. Although this adds complexity to the analysis, Oughton and Wheelock (2006) suggest that it is more appropriate to investigate the mix of formal and substantive rationality which guides individual action in both market and household spheres. This holistic approach offers insights in terms of both the choices about and the distribution of paid and unpaid work within and outside the household.

We have suggested that the household is a primary and basic unit which specialises in the areas of production, distribution, consumption, socialisation and reproduction of the members of a society (Pessar, 1988; Agarwal, 1997). It is also "an arena of social relations organised along generational, gender, and kinship lines. These relations generate and are reinforced by a structure of power, ideological meanings, and sentiment" which build inner hierarchy and inequality within the domestic unit (Pessar, 1988: 197). In such a complex household structure constituted of multiple actors with varying preferences and interest, it is reasonable to assume that conflicts and struggle among the family members may occur at many levels of analysis including the sphere of power and authority control over decision making, the division of labour, and the allocation of household resources (Pessar, 1988; Agarwal, 1997).

Understanding the characteristics of power relations in the household requires a sociological perspective. In this regard, power is viewed as a property of the social relation, rather than an attribute of the actor (Emerson, 1962). Theorising this phenomenon referring largely to the concept of dependence and defining it as a function of the reliance of one actor on another, Emerson (1962, 1972) claimed that social relations commonly entail ties of mutual dependence. These ties imply that "each party is in a position, to some degree, to grant or deny, facilitate or hinder, the other's gratification" (Emerson, 1962: 32), therefore, the power to control or influence others resides in control over resources they value. Sociologists have argued that power relations exist when the actions of one person have an effect on others, "one has more power to the extent that one's objective situation allows the advance of one's own wishes even when this is detrimental to another person's wishes" (England and Kilbourne, 1990: 164). More recently, Sturm and Antonakis (2015: 139) defined power as "having the discretion and the means to asymmetrically enforce one's will over entities".

Hence, power is not a characteristic of a particular family member, but exists as realm of social interaction. Men, women and children are socially assigned to particular roles in the household and therefore, different forms of their interactions are largely socially constructed (Vogler, 1998). As such households are hierarchically structured whereby members have differential access to power; this is influenced by issues such as age, gender and status plus, economic leverage through income differentials.

Parallel to a growing research interest in the intra-household economy, scholars across different fields have proposed a variety of theoretical and methodological frameworks in order to gain insights into the sphere of household resource allocation practices and decision making processes. These attempts have resulted in the development of a range of often competing approaches which vary in terms of their underlying assumptions, explanatory mechanisms and variables. These frameworks include a range of bargaining models from the field of economics, resource theory and the role of gender and power asymmetries from the field of sociology.

Economic Perspectives on Household Decision-Making

Although concepts of power relations and inequality in the household resonate more with sociologists and political scientists, their underpinnings are also embedded in and shaped by economic theories (Sen, 1985, 1999; Pollak, 1994; Burton et al., 2007). Indeed, historical considerations of household distribution practices and decision making processes date to the 1950s, in particular to the period when a branch of neoclassical economics, New Household Economics, was developed (Mincer, 1962; Becker, 1965). As Table 1 indicates, the two main approaches which provide insights into the multiplicity of decision makers within the

household are the unitary and non-unitary models of the household behaviour (Pollak, 1994; Lundberg and Pollak, 1996; Burton et al., 2007, Chiappori and Donni, 2009).

Table 1 Economic Models of Decision-Making Processes in the Household

UNITARY MODELS	NON-UNITARY MODELS
	Cooperative bargaining models
Consensus model (Samuelson, 1956)	Nash bargaining model (Nash 1950;
Altruist model (Becker, 1974, 1981)	Manser and Brown, 1980; McElroy and
	Horney, 1981; Lundberg and Pollak,
	1993)
	Collective model (Chiappori, 1988;
	Bourguinon and Chiappori, 1994)
	Non-cooperative bargaining models
	Ulph (1988), Wolley (1993)

Source: Kuhl (2015)

The unitary or common preference model dates to the period from the 1950s until the 1980s (Lundberg and Pollak, 1996). One of the fundamental assumptions of this approach was the disregard of power differentials within the household, as neoclassical economists omitted the possibility of internal conflicts and inequalities between family members (England and Kilbourne, 1990; Pollak, 1994). Instead, the household was treated as a cooperative and altruistic unit in which either each member has the same preferences or one individual takes decisions under the constraints of a single pooled budget. As a result, the household forms a unitary structure where the joint utility function aggregates the individual utilities of each family member (Pollak, 1994).

The unitary approach to family behaviour is theoretically underpinned by two distinct models, the consensus model (Samuelson, 1956) and the altruist model (Becker, 1974, 1981). The consensus model analyses the issue of intra-family allocation and distribution by postulating a family social welfare function. Samuelson (1956) argued that family behaviour could be rationalised as the outcome of maximising the single utility functions of each household member. Thus, despite having their own preferences, by consensus, they agree to pool resources and work to maximise the common utility function (Lundberg and Pollak, 1996). The altruist model (Becker, 1974, 1981) provided an account of how resources are distributed within the family. According to Becker's 'Rotten Kid Theorem', the family consists of a group of purely selfish but rational 'children' and one altruistic parent whose utility function reflects a concern for the well-being of other family members. The presence of an altruistic parent who makes positive transfers to each member of the family is sufficient to induce the 'selfish kids' to act in an apparently unselfish way. The altruistic parent will adjust transfers so that each 'rotten kid' finds it in his or her interest to choose actions that maximize family income, and as a result, the altruist's utility function. The main implication of Becker's (1974, 1981) concept of altruism is that even if the household lacks a joint utility function, it behaves as though it has one, reaching a conclusion similar to that of the Samuelson's consensus model (Lundberg and Pollak, 1996; Chiappori and Donni, 2009). While the unitary (common preference) model provides some insights into consumption behaviour and labour supply in the household, later critiques highlighted its deficiencies within a changing society (Lundberg and Pollak, 1996). Evidence from empirical studies did not support the specific restrictions imposed on the joint utility welfare function rejecting, for example, the family income pooling assumption (Chiappori and Donni, 2009). There was also a growing recognition that economic self-interest may actually operate within household and includes not only 'rotten kids' but also 'rotten parents' who are not necessarily wholly

altruistic (Folbre, 1986). Finally, the approach proved too restrictive, failing to acknowledge intra-household negotiation over assets and potentially severe inequalities within households separating gender dynamics at the microeconomic level from the known external dimensions of gender differentiation and asset distribution (Dwyer and Bruce, 1988; Chiappori and Donni, 2009).

The scarcity of convincing empirical support of the unitary model and its relative lack of theoretical foundations led to the development of alternative visions of household dynamics, based on a non-unitary description of household behaviour (Burton et al., 2007). The non-unitary framework of the household includes cooperative and non-cooperative bargaining models, which to varying degrees "seek to incorporate the social reality of the family as described in anthropological and sociological writings" (Agarwal, 1997: 4). These approaches differ in terms of their assumptions and mechanisms used to uncover the decision making rules and processes, but share one common feature: a form of bargaining between the household members (Sen, 1999; Doss, 1996; Agarwal, 1997).

Non-unitary models recognise that intra-household interactions contain both cooperation and conflict. In the cooperative bargaining approach, household members cooperate insofar as these arrangements are beneficial to them. Many different sets of cooperative outcomes are possible amongst which, some are more favourable to particular parties (Pareto efficiency assumption). Which outcome emerges depends on the relative bargaining power of the household members. Bargaining power may be defined by a range of factors which vary between different non-unitary approaches. Cooperative bargaining models perceive the strength of agents in their fall-back position or "threat point". The fall-back position can be explained as the outside options which determines how well-off actors would be if

cooperation failed, for instance in the situation of divorce (Manser and Brown, 1980; McElroy and Horney, 1981). Better alternatives outside marriage may lead to an improvement in the deal the person gets within the household. Non-cooperative bargaining models relax many of the assumptions of the unitary model, including Pareto efficiency, income pooling, and enforceable and binding contracts (Agarwal, 1997). Each individual within the household is considered to maximise his or her own utility, relative to his or her own budget constraints, taking the actions of other household members as given (Wooley 1988). It allows for individuals to make consumption and production decisions based on their own labour and access to resources, making these decisions independent but also interrelated (Doss, 1996).

While the unitary model of household behaviour neglected the notion of power differentials within the household, non-unitary models address this concept to some degree but omit several important factors. For example, some models characterise the household dynamics as a form of bargaining but say little about the complex, qualitative range of factors that might determine bargaining power (Agarwal, 1997). Moreover, only a few studies explicitly recognise the importance of social norms, ideologies, individual preferences, or gender differences in the exercise of self-interest (Sen, 1999; Lundberg and Pollak, 1993; Folbre 1995). To understand these dynamics in more depth requires insights from sociology and social psychology.

Sociological Perspectives on Household Decision-Making

A large literature on the intra-household economy has also emerged within the sociological domain, largely in response to concerns about household financial allocation practices and gender inequalities (Sonnenberg, 2008). One set of studies draws on the resource theory of power which perceives the institution of marriage as a set of exchange relations in which marital power in general, and power over decision making in particular, rests with the partner who contributes most resources to the household (Ferree, 1990; Vogler, 1998). While there was an assumption that the increase in women's access to waged work in the latter part of the twentieth century would enable a greater contribution to household budgets, with a concomitant increase in household power (Blood and Wolfe, 1960), contemporary studies contest this thesis. Whilst women have increased their participation in waged work, this has not however, led to corresponding equality regarding shared economic resources or power in the household (Klasen and Lamanna, 2009). Such contradictory findings have provoked discussion between scholars about the factual explanatory power of the resource theory acknowledging major problems with this approach.

A key criticism of the resource theory of power refers to its tendency to treat the intrahousehold economy as sociologically neutral which isolates it from wider systems of gender inequalities (Vogler, 1998, Sonnenberg, 2008). Given the differing employment patterns between men and women (Bradley, 2007), wage discrepancies affect the level of economic resources individuals are able to bring to a marriage positioning male partners in a dominant position (Fine, 2010). The resource theory of power has also been criticised for downplaying ideological and cultural aspects and disregarding both historical and contemporary evidence demonstrating that male and female economic contributions to the household are perceived and treated differently (Bowden and Mummery, 2010; Klasen and Lamanna, 2009). Male incomes are deemed to be of greater value than those of women, regardless of actual income differentials; female incomes are more likely to be deemed secondary even when essential for family subsistence (Bittman, England, Folbre et al., 2003). It has also been argued that the ideology of the male breadwinner remains a major source of hierarchy in the household which prevents women's income from increasing their power in direct proportion to increases in their earnings (Zelizer, 1997; Grunow, Schulz and Blossfeld, 2012), and the major opponents of the resource theory of power also postulate that because it overlooks the impact of intra-household relations on economic behaviour, it cannot explain the contradictions and persistent gender inequalities in household financial practices (Sonnenberg, 2008).

In contrast to the resource theory of power, the sociology of gender (Bradley, 2007) recognises that the economic situation of individuals within a household cannot be determined in isolation from social norms of behaviour. Men, women and children are socially assigned to particular roles in the household, and the division of labour and income within the household is seen as socially, rather than biologically, determined (Fine, 2010). Studies of the way in which married couples organise money within the family (Vogler, 1994, 1998; Vogler and Pahl, 1993, 1994) appeared to support a gendered construction of household allocative practices. While the resource theory viewed power over decision making as determined by the partner who contributes most resources to the marriage, Vogler and Pahl's (1993, 1994) findings showed that monetary practices were more strongly related to ideological and cultural factors, particularly with regard to the male partner's education, attitudes, and socialisation, than to the female partner's characteristics.

Although each of these approaches has helped shape our understanding of the factors that may influence power relations and decision making process within households, there are still many areas which require further consideration. Neither the resource theory of power, nor the notions of 'entitlement' and 'ownership' alone, can explain why and how considerations of economic contribution override the notion of equal sharing in marriage (Sonnenberg, 2008).

Moreover, the mechanisms by which female breadwinners, unlike their male counterparts, often appear to forgo their apparent entitlement to a greater control over and access to household finances remain under-explored (Tichenor, 1999; Drago, Black and Wooden, 2005).

Household Decision-Making: The Child as Decision-Maker

Studies of family decision making practices typically centre on the husband-wife dyad, overlooking the possible influence of other household members. As a consequence, children have been mostly excluded from household behavioural models and relatively little has been written about their involvement in decision mechanisms (Basu, 2006). In practice the presence of children influences household decisions and from an early age children have their own preferences over consumption and their parents' labour supply (John, 1999; Roy, 2004; Dauphin et al., 2011). However, within the family decision making literature, the nature and extent of children's influence over decision-making remains under-researched.

The economic literature is predictably silent on the role children may play in the family decision processes (Dauphin et al., 2011). There is, moreover, an ongoing discussion between economists whether children can be actually treated as potential economic agents, questioning the rationale for their incorporation into the modelling of family decision making processes. Basu (2006) and Bourguignon (1999) suggest that a woman tends to internalise her children's preference, implying that her utility function reflects the child's interest, while Blundell et al. (2005) perceive children only as household public goods. In the field of sociology a tendency for children to be treated as 'human becomings' rather than independent actors in their own right (Gram, 2007) has been replaced by a sociology of childhood with

respect to an emphasis on children's voices, their capacity to be agents and their status as social actors (Gram, 2007; Moran-Ellis, 2010; Mayall, 2013). Despite this visible research advancement, many areas of children's activity remain unexplored, including their involvement in the family decision making process.

While economists and sociologists have largely neglected the role and influence of children, a great deal of attention has been devoted to children as consumers assessing directly the nature and extent of their influence on family purchase decisions (Lee and Beatty, 2002; Flurry and Burns, 2005). While there is clear evidence that children participate in family decision making, studies suggest that their involvement and influence varies by product class, stage of the decision making process and by various decision areas (Gram, 2007). Moreover, children have developed a variety of techniques and approaches to influence parental decisions. While children have passive or indirect ways of indicating what they do and do not like, more direct approaches are also observable including, bargaining, compromising, persuasion, and pestering. As Gram (2007: 21) notes "the influence of children is not just a one-way unsophisticated process with a screaming child in a supermarket, as the process is thought of stereotypically, but a two-way communicative and multifaceted process between the child and an adult often encouraging the child's participation."

Table 2: Implications of Changes in Family Structure

'TRADITIONAL' FAMILY	'NEW' FAMILY	POSSIBLE IMPLICATIONS	
Families as Producers	Families as consumers	Children encounter consumption decisions earlier	
Multi-member households	Limited member households	Due to the changing family structure (postponed childbearing, single parents, etc.), households are smaller	
Hierarchical relationship	Horizontal relationship	Family decision making is more egalitarian, with children having more equality in the family; children are taking on more decision making responsibility	
Collective values	Individual values	Children form values as a result of external influences	
Biological family ties	Social family ties	Families are no longer necessarily biologically related, changing traditional familial roles	
Unpaid care	Paid care	Children encounter non-family socialization agents earlier	
Differentiated relationships	Fused relationships	Stereotypical family decision making forms are declining	
Rights	Responsibilities	Children are achieving equal- shareholder status	
Belonging	Isolation	Children make more decisions autonomously	

Source: Flurry (2007)

The profound changes in the structure of the family unit in recent decades has been accompanied by changes in the role and position of both women and children and the nature of family decision-making (Belch and Willis, 2001; Flurry 2007). Table 2 presents some of the implications of the transformation of the family unit from traditional to new. Within the modern family, children are involved in a decision making process from an earlier age, taking greater roles and responsibilities than in the past (Flurry, 2007). Their influence also extends far beyond what is traditionally thought to include areas where children were primary product users, as the marked pace of technological change combined with educational development

has ensured that children are often more knowledgeable than their parents (Francisco, 1999; Meyers, 2004; Roy, 2004). The growth of single-parent households also allows children to be positioned as equal participants in family decisions, as they have not been socialized to understand clear role distinctions between parent and child (Flurry, 2007). As Flurry (2007: 323) reports, changes in the structure, composition, role and ideology of the family collectively suggest that children have increased "the child's status as an active decision-maker. In fact, children may have more absolute decision-making influence than ever before." There are also assumptions of distinct age and maturity hierarchies between parents and children in households. However, recent changes such as increasing divorce levels, cost of housing, shifts from [higher paid] manufacturing to [lower paid] service sector work have seen a new generation of 'boomerang' children – adult children returning to the parental household (Koslow and Booth, 2013). Such generational blending, which brings adult children and parents back into proximity, will again add a new dimension to decision making, resource management and household dynamics.

Household Financial Allocation Practices

How income is distributed between members of a family unit was a central question in Jan Pahl's (1989) pioneering works which drew on sociological and ethnographic approaches to explore household financial allocation practices. These small-scale studies of married couples in the south of England led to the identification and delineation of different strategies of how household members organise and manage their incomes. While Pahl's (1989) five-fold typology of allocation practices is now dated in its focus on marriage, heterosexuality and its depiction of women as secondary income earners, her identification of distinctive approaches

to financial management within the household remains relevant, and later studies updated her initial categories (Vogler, 1994; Sonnenberg, 2008).

- The female whole wage system refers to the situation when a male partner passes his salary to a female partner usually retaining some personal spending money (pocket money). The female partner adds her own salary, if any, and carries the sole responsibility for managing household finances and expenditure.
- 2. The male whole wage system indicates a strategy where a male partner retains his own earnings, but is solely accountable for managing household finances and expenditure. In this case however, a non-earning female partner may be left without any personal spending money; a strategy that may lead to female poverty even within relatively well-off, middle-class households.
- 3. The housekeeping allowance system focuses on the role of a breadwinner, traditionally a male partner, who hands over to his female partner a specific amount of money (fixed or variable) for day-to-day housekeeping expenses (housekeeping allowance), whilst maintaining control over the remainder.
- 4. In the *pooling system*, both spouses pool, have access to and share all (or nearly all) household income. Initially, each partner was regarded as equally responsible for managing the common pool, but later work by Vogler (1994) subdivided this group into three further categories, the male-managed pool (where one or both partners claimed husbands were responsible for management), the female-managed pool (where one or both partners claimed wives were responsible for management), and the joint pool, depicting households where both partners agreed they were equally responsible for management).
- 5. The *independent management system* characterises couples where each partner has his or her own independent source of income and is responsible for specific items of

expenditure. Earnings are usually kept in separate bank accounts to which the other partner has no, or limited, access.

Pahl's (1989) categorisation of the financial arrangements of married couples into what she termed 'household allocative systems' drew attention to the different dynamics that exist within households, and shed light on who in the relationship distributes the household income within the family, and who is responsible for different items of household expenditure, and to what extent. Household allocative systems distinguish between the mechanisms of management and the control of household funds, in as much as dealing with routine, day-today financial matters does not necessarily entail real control over money and the purposes for which it is used (Vogler, 1998; Laurie and Gershuny, 2000). Pahl's work also cast doubt on notions of the household as a unified institution within which resources are shared unproblematically among its members; instead the gendered nature of household monetary practices was highlighted. For example, in households with higher levels of income, sufficient to allow for discretionary spending, it is more likely that the husband both deals with day to day financial matters and has the 'final say' in these decisions (Vogler and Pahl, 1994; Vogler 1998). However, if income levels are low, typically the wife takes responsibility for the management of the household budget (Pahl, 1989; Vogler and Pahl, 1994), but the lack of resources in these households means that "the task is likely to be a chore or a burden rather than a source of power" (Vogler, 1998:692). Later studies also revealed that if a man possesses a higher degree of financial control in the lower-income household, it is more likely that his wife experiences financial disadvantage and greater economic deprivation (Vogler and Pahl, 1994). On the other hand, if a woman is the breadwinner, she will typically uphold her husband's status as the head of the household, regardless of the actual level of his financial input (Stamp, 1985; Vogler and Pahl, 1993;

Vogler, 1998; Tichenor, 1999; Vogler, Brockmann and Wiggins, 2006). Gendered monetary practices are also seen in 'the relative financial contribution of the respective partners' (Sonnenberg, 2008). It has been observed that even within the pooling system of money management, which is based on the underlying notion of equality and sharing, female partners tend to feel constrained when they use money for personal expenditure, especially if the proportion of their contribution to the common budget is smaller than their male partners (Burgoyne et al, 2006, Burgoyne et al, 2007).

While contemporary social trends have shown a growth in female participation in the labour market and their greater contribution to household budgets as well as greater awareness of diverse households, household allocative practices have proven more resistant to change (Dixon and Wetherell, 2004; Sonnenberg, 2008). The system of pooling in a joint banking account is still the most frequently used approach (Pahl, 2008; Sonnenberg, 2008), though fewer couples prefer this form and more decide to keep at least some part of their earnings in individual accounts to which their partner does not have access. Independent money management is steadily increasing, particularly among re-married or cohabiting couples, and among younger and more affluent couples, usually before they have children, but is still less frequently used than other management systems, though advances in electronic banking and the individualisation of debit and credit cards may spur greater use of independent money systems (Vogler et al., 2006; Ashby and Burgoyne, 2008).

Household allocative practices remain gendered with regard to relative contribution, management and control, access to financial resources, as well as lifestyle and living standards of individuals within the same household (Sonnenberg, 2008). Gender-based asymmetries have contributed to (often self-imposed) restrictions in accessing household

financial resources, placing women and children in a potentially more vulnerable financial position than men (Burgoyne et al., 2006, 2007). Even within the pooling system, based on the underlying notion of equality in sharing, female partners tend to feel constrained when they use money for personal expenditure, especially if their contribution to the common budget is smaller than their male partner's (Burgoyne et al., 2006, 2007). Individualised systems also reproduce gender inequalities, in so far as expenditure can be concealed from partners, substantially decreasing levels of money control within the household and permitting unequal living standards between individuals within the same household (Pahl, 2008). Overall, it would appear that gender has a powerful effect upon financial allocation practices. Given gendered income differentials, women have, on average, lower levels of personal financial resources (Coleman and Robb, 2015) and given gendered power hierarchies within households, lower discretion over the allocation of such resources.

Approaches to Household Strategy

As we have shown, household economic behaviour has been an important focus both for economists and sociologists. Economic approaches to the household, particularly those associated with New Home Economics (Becker 1965), assume that each household has a strategy, even if it is not evident to members of the household, and that households behave rationally, for example pursuing strategically optimal approaches to labour market participation. Household strategy was also a central component of Chayanov's theory of peasant economy, in which he argued that a peasant's labour would increase until it met the consumption needs of the household, at which point there would be little incentive to continue - the consumption-labour balance principle. However, the idea that households are able to develop and pursue strategies which take account of individual motivations and

agency and relate to how people plan and attempt to structure their lives, with at least a degree of consciousness, has been fiercely contested, particularly among sociologists (Crow, 1989; Anderson et al, 1994; Wallace, 2002).

The concept of household strategy was notably applied to understand and analyse economic behaviour among the urban poor in Latin America and Africa in the 1970s and 1980s; contexts in which participation in the informal economy had a central role in individual and household decisions (Hart, 1973; Castells and Portes, 1989). People in marginal socioeconomic positions, "peasants, small business and farm families or immigrant entrepreneurs" were described as having strategies, often for coping or survival (Wallace, 2002: 2). The concept was later associated with individuals facing economic change within transitional economies (Kolankiewicz, 1996; Piirainen, 1997), as well as within empirical studies of economic precarity in Britain, in particular Gershuny and Ray Pahl's (1979) analysis of unemployment in Sheppey and Anderson, Bechhofer and Gershuny's (1994) analysis of the social and political economy of the household.

Household strategies were seen as an effective means of analysing responses to the economic and social changes caused by shifts in the industrial infrastructure, commonly described as the decline of Fordism, which were accompanied by increases in flexible employment, growing informalisation of large parts of the economy, and the sustained entry of women into formal employment (Anderson et al., 1994; Wallace, 2002). The loss of traditional patterns of life-long, full-time, predominantly male employment and its associated welfare resources ensured that individuals and households needed to adapt to a new socio-economic order, based at least in part on income patch-worked from the efforts of household members

participating in a portfolio of part-time and full-time employment - and increasingly participation in self-employment (Grint, 2005).

Among sociologists, debates about household strategy centred largely on "whether the rationality or active agency implied by the word 'strategy' was justified" (Wallace, 2002: 3), while the term's military and business derivation and the associated power discourses and practices were roundly rejected by structuralist and post-structural theorists. As Knights and Morgan (1990: 475) argued, the term strategy "has been treated as though it were an unproblematic concept, whereas in fact it is embedded within specific discourses and has particular social effects ... the concept of strategy needs understanding in terms of its role in reproducing specific sets of hierarchically organised social relations". Reviewing the debates concerning the conceptualisation and use of household strategies in social research, Wallace (2002) highlighted three sets of circumstances in which the use of household strategies would be particularly beneficial for social analysis. These included first, situations where more women enter the labour force and where new decisions are required about the allocation of household tasks; second, situations of rapid social change where households face increasing risk and uncertainty, as in the case of post-Communist countries as well as under certain post-Fordist conditions; and finally, situations in which large parts of the economy are informal or becoming informalised, forcing households to draw on a range of resources inside and outside of the household in order to manage their social and economic reproduction.

The degree of choice and constraint evident within household economic behaviour was a key theme within the UK Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC) funded programme of work on Social Change and Economic Life Initiative. In these large-scale studies, the focus on household strategy was justified on the basis that the organisation of household economic

behaviour implies that allocative choices have to be made about the use and distribution of resources, and that these decisions are inextricably bound with strategies (Anderson et al., 1994). Household strategies, therefore, were regarded as "more or less rational principles which actors can articulate and describe: higher order constructs which form general descriptions for actions leading towards desired medium or long-term goals" (Anderson et al., 1994: 65). In focusing on the manner in which people plan and attempt to structure their lives, different sets of strategies were evident for the public world of work and for the private world of family and household. Both were regarded as constructs with which people make sense of their world, constantly being reviewed and amended, often inconsistent and frequently unfulfilled. Individuals and households were found to be continuously involved in adapting to changing circumstances; articulating plans and strategies helped people to make sense of events and demonstrated their desire to achieve a sense of control over their lives within an uncertain world (Anderson et al., 1994).

The relationship between individual plans and household strategy is often blurred, but Anderson et al's (1994) large-scale study helped tease out the structure and dimensions of this relationship. Households were found to develop complex sets of rules governing, for example, acceptable behaviour such as membership and rights of membership; develop working practices about the allocation of tasks or bringing in resources necessary to maintain the household; evolve mechanisms to order the time-sequencing of behaviour; and develop shared expectations over member rights to property and other rights within the household. These sets of rules, emerging through social interaction and not belonging to any one individual, help coordinate and accommodate the attitudes, beliefs and behaviours of household members. At the same time, aspirations and plans for the future help individuals to structure at least some parts of their present activity, by opening or closing particular options

as acceptable lines of action. However, individual plans typically take account of, and only rarely disregard, the household, its members and its complex rules and behaviours that evolve over time (Anderson et al, 1994).

Debates about household strategies also focused attention on which types of household were more or less likely to develop strategies. The concept originally emerged in studies of poor households in developing economies and appeared to be a feature of poor (Hart, 1973) and rural (Blim, 2001) households struggling to survive. However, in their study of British households Anderson et al (1994) and McCrone (1994) argued that better-off households were more able to perceive themselves as having sufficient control over resources to make choices and plan strategies. An attempt to reconcile these two perspectives emerged in the distinction drawn between strong and weak definitions of strategy (Warde, 1990), where strong definitions could be applied to households that actively plan their activities and explain their rationality, while weak definitions, focused on practices and behaviours, could be applied to households where strategy could be inferred from particular household outcomes without the need for rational explanation (Wallace, 2002).

The distinction between strong and weak strategies not only highlights different conceptions of the role of structure and agency in social life, it also draws attention to methodological distinctions. Wallace (2002) explains that face to face interviews where individuals could articulate, discuss and rationalise their actions, were more amenable to gathering data that complemented strong definitions of strategy, while (postal) surveys were more likely to produce data that suggested weaker definitions of strategy. These methodological distinctions draw attention to the complexity of household strategy which is not only a (contested) concept taking account of individual motivations and agency, it is also a unit of analysis that

focuses on households rather than individuals, and a *method of analysis* through which "the intersection of different economies in household behaviour" can be examined (Wallace, 2002: 1). A key complexity in household strategy, as a concept, a unit of analysis and as a means of analysis, is that it shifts over time in response to changes in household membership and structure (Alsos et al, 2014; Valdez, 2016). Families evolve over time as new members are born, grown-up children marry and may leave the family home, couples may separate, adult children return to the household and older generations die. As household size and composition changes, needs and resources also change with consequent shifts in household economic behaviour (Anderson et al, 1994; Alsos et al, 2014).

While sociologists have contributed a wealth of insights regarding household economic behaviour, particularly with regard to household strategy, decision making and allocative practices, very little work has been undertaken in recent years. This is particularly unfortunate given the changing economic trends apparent within most developed economies that have led to a growth in the number of individuals engaged in entrepreneurial activities (Kelley et al, 2016). Entrepreneurship scholars have developed substantial specialist knowledge with regard to the individual entrepreneur and the firms they create, but the entrepreneurship domain has paid little attention to the households from which these entrepreneurial activities emanate. Yet, as sociologists and economists have shown, individual actions have consequences for the household and decisions made within the household have an impact on individual actions. While the current lack of sociological focus on households may be explained by a number of factors, it is hard to avoid the conclusion that one of the reasons for this may be *because* there has been a widespread growth in entrepreneurial activities and the challenges this brings to existing conceptions of the role of structure and agency in social and economic life. Regardless of the cause, the limited focus

upon households within contemporary sociology is an undoubted loss. The insights that could be gained from a sociological analysis of entrepreneurial households, not least in terms of our understanding of resource decisions and financial allocative practices, would be considerable.

In a recent article documenting the 'near disappearance' of family science and the simultaneous rise of family business research, James, Jennings and Breitkreuz (2012) call for a resynthesis of the two subjects, through a combined approach of informed pluralism and disciplinary integration. As they explain, "renewed attention to integrating ideas from the two disciplines is likely to enrich both" (James et al, 2012: 87). A parallel may be drawn between the family science / family business research divide identified by James et al (2012) and the apparently disparate arenas of household economic sociology and the business owning households identified by entrepreneurship scholars. In the same way that James et al (2012) demonstrated that long standing theories from the family science literature could be effectively combined with the predominant perspectives from the family business literature, so too is there potential for integrating the theoretical and methodological insights from household economic sociology with entrepreneurial perspectives on households. Bridging these two disparate perspectives on households may result in rich insights and new directions for both subject domains.

4. THE HOUSEHOLD IN ENTREPRENEURSHIP RESEARCH

Household Perspectives in Entrepreneurship

A household perspective on entrepreneurship implies that entrepreneurs are viewed within the context of their immediate family unit, implicitly recognizing the blurred boundaries between the business and private sphere (Aldrich and Cliff, 2003). These two spheres share complex links for entrepreneurs; household decisions and business decisions are made in tandem within the home; business strategies are interwoven with household strategies (Ram et al, 2000; Wallace, 2002; Alsos et al, 2014). Adopting a household perspective introduces a range of novel issues into the research process. These include the effect of household structure and composition on decisions to start and grow an enterprise; the number of entrepreneurs within the household; the allocation of household resources to businesses and vice versa; the effects of resource provision and resource depletion on both business and household; the degree of financial intermingling between household and business; the effects of entrepreneurship upon household social and economic well-being. In addition, there are well-rehearsed issues relating to gender, class, ethnicity and educational dimensions that influence household economic behaviour.

Within the entrepreneurship domain, the household is most often regarded either as a data-source to analyse and measure individual entrepreneurial actions whilst largely ignoring the household setting, or as a context for studies that focus on entrepreneurship within developing economies or on ethnic business niches within advanced economies. As mentioned in the introduction, a search of the Primo Central database for the years 1980-2016 using the keywords 'households' and 'entrepreneurship' located 320 peer-reviewed journal articles, of which 192 focused on aspects of entrepreneurship within a variety of developing

economies, including studies of micro-credit and analyses of peasant and agricultural subsectors as sources of economic opportunity, where the (typically undefined) household is assumed to be the main beneficiary, if not the instigator, of new economic activity. The idea that the household is a property of and a legitimate element of study within developing and proto-industrial economies and within studies of ethnic businesses, but is largely irrelevant for more mainstream populations within advanced, industrialised and Western economies is a particular characteristic of the entrepreneurship domain. It is hard to avoid the conclusion that the household is both relevant for the analysis of entrepreneurship but simultaneously, largely disregarded as a site for entrepreneurship research.

An example of the use of the household within studies of entrepreneurship within developing economies is provided by Gras and Nason's (2015: 546) detailed examination of the "embedded role of the family household in governing firm performance in an impoverished setting". Drawing on detailed data gathered from over one thousand business-owning households in slum areas of Hyderabad, India, and using bricolage as the theoretical lens, this study postulated that household diversity leads to business creativity. It was found that shared business experience improves business routinisation; business performance however, was found to be strongest where there were moderate levels of both household diversity and shared business experience. While Gras and Nason (2015) make a very clear theoretical and empirical contribution to our understanding of the manner in which households underpin entrepreneurial behaviours and activities and how they are, in turn, are shaped by their economic behaviour, they specified that these results could not be easily transferred from one context to another. The study's participants were "desirable microloan borrowers: impoverished, yet had the potential to generate income and repay loans ...poor, but not 'the poorest of the poor'" (p.553), while the small enterprises that they owned and operated "bear

little resemblance to the large publically traded forms or fast growing gazelles, which may be more familiar to scholars in developed economies (p.560). Gras and Nason (2015) tentatively allude to the fact that such businesses "represent a more prevalent organization form than the very large public firms that have dominated strategy studies" (Gras and Nason, 2015: 560). Perhaps understandably, it appears that researchers are reluctant to generalize findings derived from studies of entrepreneurial households in developing country contexts to those within more developed economies.

Studies of ethnic minority enterprise have similarly emphasised the centrality of the household. An insight into the ethnic household economy and in particular, the family's composition and collectivist ideology, was provided by Kibria's (1994) ethnographic study of Vietnamese refugees who had recently arrived in Philadelphia. This study observed that those households that were most heterogeneous in age and gender composition were well placed to gather a variety of resources from diverse social and economic arenas, and that this 'patchworking' strategy deployed by Vietnamese-refugee households mitigated the instability and scarcity of available resources (Kibria, 1994: 82). The role of household composition and household ideology in shaping intra-group differences was also the focus of Valdez's (2016) study of Mexican-origin entrepreneurs in Texas. Concluding that the structure of the household economy has different effects on individual economic opportunities and outcomes, Valdez (2016: 1632) argued that "a diverse household composition and collectivist family ideology facilitates entrepreneurship by providing opportunities and family-based resources that increase family members' likelihood of entrepreneurial activity". The effects of household resources were also the focus for Smith's (2005) analysis of self-employment among African Americans, which found that being married and also having additional sources of household income increases the likelihood of entrepreneurship.

Describing the focus on the household economy within the ethnic minority enterprise research literature, Valdez (2016: 1620) argued that "scholarship on ethnic enterprise indicates that familism, defined as family ideologies and practices that privilege collectivism, characterizes ethnic households and influences their socioeconomic incorporation". The role of the family and household in determining business strategy was a key finding in Ram's (1994) ethnography of employment relations in small, ethnic-minority owned firms in the UK. During the course of the study, one of the three firms examined suddenly split into five separate companies; the need to accommodate seven male family members being the impetus for this division. As one brother explained: "The company was split not because there was any demand from the market for such a move, it was just to give them [the brothers] something to do" (Ram, 1994: 89). In a similar vein, Mulholland's (1997) analysis of the entrepreneurial, managerial and preservation strategies characterising successful family businesses drawn from majority white and minority ethnic communities in the UK, described the case of an ethnic minority family where business expansion coincided with the incorporation of the founder's five siblings. Mulholland (1997: 695) argued that the employment of male siblings is consistent with the management practices characteristic of industrial family capitalism, "providing career paths, while also safeguarding against labour market discrimination" that ethnic minorities potentially face.

Beyond studies of ethnic minority enterprise or those set within the context of developing economies, the adoption of a household perspective remains relatively unusual within the entrepreneurship research domain. One notable exception lies in Parker's (2005) analyses of entrepreneurship among married couples in the US. As Parker (2005:3) notes, "the literature has largely ignored the possibility that an individual's decision to be an entrepreneur might

both affect and be affected by the entrepreneurial propensities of their marital partner". Building on the observation that married couples are frequently found to be in business either in a jointly owned enterprise or within independent firms, Parker's study identified the role of knowledge about business ownership and business conditions being easily and efficiently shared between spouses. Knowledge spillover effects were found to be considerably stronger than alternative theories, such as assortative mating, role model effects, risk diversification, and intra-household wealth transfers, in explaining the propensity of married couples as business owners.

Commented [SC1]: Addresses Point 4

While the burgeoning research literature on family businesses has been one of the recent success stories of the subject domain, we have argued previously that the focus of the family business research stream tends to be the firm rather than the entrepreneurial household. Across the subject domain as a whole, there has been a growing interest in issues such as family embeddedness (Aldrich and Cliff, 2003) and socioemotional wealth (Gomez-Mejia, Haynes, Nunez-Nickel, et al., 2007). It is also the case that studies incorporating these perspectives also use the individual or the firm, rather than the household, as the unit of analysis. While Aldrich and Cliff's (2003) call for studies adopting a family embeddedness perspective recognised that the family construct is fraught with methodological difficulties and made an explicit recommendation to focus on households as the operational proxy for the family, most studies responding to their call ignored this advice and continued to use either the firm or the individual as the unit of analysis. Hence, studies adopting a household perspective and that also use the household as the unit of analysis remain relatively unusual within entrepreneurship studies based on majority populations within developed country contexts.

While entrepreneurial households remain an atypical focus, family-owned businesses are an important and distinctive element of the entrepreneurship research domain. Family businesses are constructed on the basis of the aspirations and capabilities of family members, and these remain key vectors that persistently influence decisions about strategy, operations and structure (Chrisman, Chua and Steier, 2005). The concept of familiness describes the resources and capabilities resulting from family involvement and interactions in the business (Habbershon and Williams, 1999; Pearson, Carr and Shaw, 2008), and while familiness encompasses the intersection of family and business, it is originally a firm-level construct (Habbershon and Williams, 1999). Taking a household perspective extends the concept of familiness by focusing not only on the single family business, but on all business activities controlled by the household, i.e. taking into account that one business strategy of the household can be to diversify its business activities into different enterprises (Alsos et al, 2014). A household perspective includes all of the business activities that are embedded in the household, rather than a single enterprise or entrepreneur. In practice, the resources and capabilities of family members are not only provided from the family to the firm, but can also be moved between business activities even if these are formally owned by different household members. Hence, a household perspective also responds to calls to examine additional levels of analysis related to familiness (Pearson, et al., 2008) and to focus on enterprising families rather than family enterprises (Discua Cruz, Howorth and Hamilton, 2013).

Household Composition and Kinship

Household transitions, sometimes labelled household disruptions or household dynamics, capture the process of households evolving over time as changes occur in family size and

composition. The entry and exit of family members through birth, marriage, separation or death, offers both new possibilities and also challenges to the existing social and economic order of any household. New family members joining through marriage may provide new resources or new employment needs, while the exit of family members through death or divorce or because grown up children move out of the family home implies both loss of resources and emotional strain. As household size and composition change over time, so too do the household's needs and resources. Kinship and marriage are central to household transitions. Kinship is defined as the "network of genealogical relationships and social ties modelled on the relations of genealogical parenthood" (Holy, 1996:40). Kinship is hallmarked by a distinctive moral order which is "at odds with the amoral logic of markets" (Stewart, 2003:385) and the place where these differing sets of morals meet is in the household or the family businesses. Kinship relations allow one to share 'without reckoning', resources are contributed without immediate or indeed any obligation for repayment, a feature that is usually impossible in market-based exchange systems (Alsos, Ljunggren and Carter, 2014).

From an entrepreneurship perspective, there are many benefits associated with kinship (Stewart, 2003; Alsos et al, 2014). These include, *inter alia*, access to resources such as capital and in covering living expenses during the business start-up, long-term social support, mentoring, access to business channels, markets, networks and information. It is widely appreciated that households contribute to an entrepreneur's business venture by providing a source of capital as well as encouragement and affirmation (Aldrich and Cliff, 2003; Brush and Manolova, 2004). With regard to more tangible business resources such as finance, studies have shown that household income levels have an impact on the monetary resources available to a business start-up (Rodriguez, Tuggle and Hackett, 2009). It is similarly known

that family members provide intangible business resources, such as emotional support and to some extent also business guidance (Renzulli, Aldrich and Moody, 2000). The role of emotional support has garnered considerable interest among the family business research community in recent years (Gomez-Mejia et al, 2007; Shepherd, 2016). Unlike externally provided business resources, kinship relations typically consist of stable social units tied by emotional bonds and high levels of trust and hence kinship-based resources and support may be sustained over a long period of time.

Children in Entrepreneurial Households

A household perspective of entrepreneurship implies understanding the effects of business ownership on all members of the household, including children and adolescents whose emotional and material well-being may be intricately bound to the fortunes of the business. Very few studies have considered the effect of business ownership on children, though studies have suggested yet aneedotal evidence suggests that the experience of growing up in an entrepreneurial household may be formative, influencing future choices made in adulthood. Indeed, most of the studies that have considered the effects of entrepreneurship upon children focus on the increased likelihood of them also becoming entrepreneurs later in life. A large cross-national study of 40,000 individuals from fifteen countries that investigated the inter-generational transmission of entrepreneurial intentions found that parents and grandparents had a direct or indirect influence on their offspring's future career choice as business owners (Laspita, Breugst, Heblich and Patzelt, 2012). However, the precise mechanisms associated with such intergenerational transmission are unclear. While Nicolaou and Shane (2009) argued that genetic predisposition (nature) played an important role, more often scholars have asserted the importance of household socialisation (nurture), exposure to a family owned business, and the development of knowledge and skills relevant

for a future entrepreneurial career (Laspita et al, 2012). A more recent study, using Swedish adoption data, revealed that biological and adoptive parental entrepreneurship significantly increased the probability of children's entrepreneurship, although post-birth effects were stronger than pre-birth effects — suggesting that while genes and upbringing were both important, role modelling was more influential than genetic factors—(Lindquist, Sol and van Praag (2015:269). In a further study, Lindquist, Sol, van Praag and Vladasel (2016) examined the potential interactions between siblings. While little evidence of sibling effects was found, brother correlations were larger than sister correlations and mixed-sex correlations were smaller than same-sex correlations. The study concluded that while siblings often share an entrepreneurial occupation, the main causes of this lie in parental entrepreneurship and genes, rather than the peer-effects of siblings.

A different but related theme within the entrepreneurship research domain focuses on whether the presence of children affects their parents' – particularly their mother's - likelihood of business ownership. Given the near universal policy focus on encouraging more women into self-employment and business ownership, this issue has received considerable policy attention, with some arguing that women's access to self-employment is constrained by a lack of childcare facilities and others arguing that the flexible working strategies available to the self-employed offers parents of young children better opportunities than in formal employment (Rouse, Treanor and Fleck, 2013). A recent study of the effects of children and family on self-employment rates in Norway found that having children was not a barrier to female self-employment rates; on the contrary, "mothers seem to be more inclined to be self-employed than in wage employment when their children are small" (Ronsen, 2014: 347). Self-employment rates among mothers were found to be positively influenced by their partner's status as self-employed and negatively affected by their partner's long working

Commented [SC2]: ADDRESSES POINTS 2 AND 3.NNNN

hours (Ronsen, 2014). Unsurprisingly, a survey of entrepreneurial parents in Ireland similarly reported that mothers (rather than fathers) adopted flexible working strategies, took on disproportionate caring responsibilities and experienced greater role conflict in combining parenting and business ownership (Drew and Humbert, 2012).

While recent studies have called for greater research attention to be afforded to the well-being of children and adolescents within entrepreneurial households (Jennings et al, 2013), this remains a woefully under-researched area. While it is tempting to explain this as a function of a broad lack of interest in children's experiences, reflecting a prevailing view of children as human 'becomings' rather than independent actors in their own right (Gram, 2007), it is just as likely to be a reflection of ethical standards in research that constrain the participation of vulnerable groups, including children. Regardless of the reasons why children have been largely excluded from research studies, it is clear that a complete understanding of the effects of business ownership on households and families will not be achieved until children's perspectives are included.

Family Embeddedness: Household Influences on Entrepreneurship

Household influences on entrepreneurship form the core of Aldrich and Cliff's (2003) seminal paper identifying the need for a family embeddedness perspective in entrepreneurship research. The family embeddedness perspective is presented in a framework that captures the process whereby family system characteristics, including household transitions, resources, and family norms, attitudes and values, influence key elements of the venture creation process, including opportunity recognition, launch decisions, resource mobilisation and implementation. Collectively, these elements influence new venture

outcomes. The outcomes of the new venture, in turn, influence family system characteristics. In identifying the intertwined character of the family household and the business, Aldrich and Cliff (2003:591) outlined a research agenda for future studies pertaining to "the impact of family system characteristics on venture creation processes ... [and] the impact of new venture outcomes on family system characteristics".

The research questions Aldrich and Cliff (2003: 591) suggest that could explore and explain the impact of family system characteristics on venture creation processes include: whether venture creation is more prevalent among individuals who have experienced a major family transition; whether new venture creation rates are more associated with resource-rich families; the effect of family norms, values and attitudes on different elements of venture creation; and how changes in family system characteristics affect the venture creation process. Conversely, the research questions they suggest to better understand the impact of new venture outcomes on family system characteristics include: whether new venture outcomes influence family transitions; the effect of venture failure and resource loss on the family; whether new venture performance can trigger changes in a family's norms, attitudes and values; and, in cases of venture failure, whether the relationship between venture performance and a family's norms, attitudes and values depends on the extent of family resource loss.

Some of these research questions, particularly those relating to the effect of the family on the new venture, have started to be addressed by researchers keen to pick up the baton proffered by Aldrich and Cliff (2003). The growth of the family business research field in recent years has ensured that substantial inroads have been made in our understanding of the influence of the family upon the business. However, questions relating to the effect of the new venture

upon the family have attracted less research attention. Indeed, the relative lack of advancement in understanding the effects of business ownership on the family provoked a more recent call to arms by Jennings, Breitkreuz and James (2013: 472), in which they called for "family scholars to join us in an important and timely quest – enhancing knowledge about the implications of entrepreneurship for family well-being". Below, we highlight some of the research evidence relating to the effect of family households on opportunity recognition, venture creation and business growth, while in a later section of this monograph we review some of the studies that have examined the effects of the business upon the entrepreneurial household.

Household Influences on Opportunity Recognition and New Venture Creation

The question of where and how business opportunities are derived has generated significant debate within the field of entrepreneurship (Alvarez and Barney, 2007; Sarasvathy, Dew, Velamuri et al., 2011). Some scholars view opportunities as 'recognized' through deductive processes of either proactive or reactive information search and analysis, while others view opportunities as 'discovered' by individuals who are alert to possibilities (Davidsson, 2012). Recently, it has been argued that opportunities are 'created' by the entrepreneur through abductive processes (Sarasvathy et al., 2011). These three distinctive perspectives on opportunity are predicated on different assumptions and are related to different situations; however, they all share the view that individual entrepreneurs are at the centre of how opportunities emerge. It is the individual entrepreneur who searches for and recognizes opportunities, who is alert and discovers opportunities, and who is creative and creates opportunities (Davidsson, 2012).

Although it is tempting to view the individual entrepreneur as the main progenitor of new venture creation opportunities, studies have consistently shown the importance of teams of people working together in order to identify and pursue opportunities (Lim, Busenitz and Chidambaram, 2013; Schjoedt, et al., 2013). Taking the household or the family as the unit of analysis, it becomes clear that opportunities may also emerge as a result of joint efforts of several connected individuals. In their study of family entrepreneurial teams, Discua Cruz et al. (2013) found that the search for entrepreneurial opportunities was a collective effort in which both the senior and the junior generation participated, and that it was the joint efforts of family members that led to the specific opportunities. While the older generation had seniority and strong influence over the family businesses, the opportunities sought were highly influenced by the skills and interests of the younger generation. If the younger generation's education and experiences were in areas similar to the family business, opportunities tended to be explored in the same area. If their education and skills were in areas unrelated to the family business portfolio this led to opportunity identification outside existing areas of business and the diversification of business portfolios. This suggests that the characteristics and strategies of the family may be important to business development.

In a study of business households, Alsos et al (2014) also found that opportunities emerged from the interests and competence of family members, were typically discussed and developed 'around the kitchen table' and involved a range of family members. Family members were seen to take different roles in this process. In one case, an older woman typically initiated opportunity identification; these opportunities were then formalized and developed by her husband and grown-up children. The deep trust and shared knowledge between family members provided an environment for open discussions of potential

opportunities. It has been argued that serial and portfolio entrepreneurs are particularly good at identifying opportunities due to their prior experience as entrepreneurs (Ucbasaran, Westhead, Wright and Binks, 2003). In a similar vein, Alsos et al (2014) argued that children growing up in a family where opportunities are discussed around the kitchen table learn from this experience. It could also be speculated that, for some children growing up in enterprising households, the experience acquired during their childhood may enable them to become more aware of entrepreneurial opportunities and emergence in adulthood. So for example, Greene, Han and Marlow (2013) found within households where mothers were self-employed, either as sole or lead business owner, daughters were significantly more likely to enter self-employment given the impact of positive female role models.

While early studies focusing on the family firm highlighted the dominant role of the senior generation in opportunity search, often in relation to succession (Handler, 1990), later studies focusing reveal that new business opportunities may be identified in the family household through more collective action (Discua Cruz et al, 2013; Alsos et al, 2014). Opportunities may also be identified as an alternative to succession, when an off-spring is grown up and ready for the responsibility of taking an entrepreneurial role (Discua Cruz, et al., 2013), when resources become available and can be put into alternative, productive and profitable use (Alsos, et al., 2014), or when the skills and interests of the younger generation are processed through the entrepreneurial actions of the enterprising family (Discua Cruz, et al., 2013).

Nevertheless, it is also apparent that individuals have differing priorities and that disagreement and diverse interests are also a feature of entrepreneurial families (Steier, Chua and Chrisman, 2009). Family teams that include in-laws, different generations or family members with dissimilar levels of commitment may fracture given tensions between different

parts of the enterprising family (Schjoedt et al, 2013). Such fault-lines may constrain opportunity identification as they introduce distrust and disengagement among family members. In other circumstances, disagreements may lead to productive processes, as subgroups of the enterprising family may be formed to identify opportunities and start new ventures (Discua Cruz, et al., 2013; Schjoedt et al, 2013).

Despite potential conflicts and indifferences, it has been noted that entrepreneurial households often have a shared and collectivised vision, though not necessarily related to one single business. This shared vision may be related to the stewardship of the family's assets and reputation and a collective commitment to build them through entrepreneurship, a feature particularly apparent within studies of farm families within the agriculture sector (Alsos and Carter, 2006; Discua Cruz, et al., 2013). Combined with such a vision, these assets may be a source of new opportunities. In a series of studies of business ownership within farm families, Gry Alsos and her colleagues found that opportunities identified to start new business activities arose from the recognition of spare resources in an existing family business (Alsos, Ljunggren and Pettersen, 2003; Alsos and Carter, 2006; Alsos, Carter and Ljunggren, 2013; Alsos et al, 2014). An example of this involved a family owned dairy farm located on one of Scotland's Western Isles. Excess milk was used as the main ingredient for farm-based cheese production, the wife's main business activity, and the whey by-product used to feed pigs, one son's main business activity. Similarly, a redundant farm building was used as source of storage space for another son's award-winning biscuit factory, while the farm's meat and cheese produce formed a main part of the menu for a third son's hotel restaurant. Studies have shown that there can be extensive resource transfer from existing to new business activities (Alsos and Carter, 2006) and, in many cases, these resources are crucial for the initiation of the new business. While there can be liabilities (Kim, Longest and Aldrich,

2013), resources accumulated from relationally embedded ties, such as family ties, can be extremely important for new business initiation (Newbert and Tornikoski, 2013). Hence, entrepreneurial households may actively invest in human and social capital across generations in order to exploit new business opportunities (Sieger, Zellweger, Nason et al., 2011).

It has also been noted that while some cases show that opportunities are identified first and then an entrepreneurial team of family members exploit it, in other cases the team and decision to start an additional venture comes first, and opportunities are then subsequently sought (Alsos et al, 2014). When an opportunity is identified and the decision made to develop it, this can be organized within an existing business unit or as a separate firm, often referred to as mode of organizing (Wiklund and Shepherd, 2008). One of the advantages of entrepreneurial households is the opportunity to develop new business activities within existing firms which acts as a seedbed, or incubator, of new ventures (Ucbasaran et al., 2008). The new venture can rely on the tangible and intangible resources of the existing business, reducing the risk and uncertainty associated with new venture development. In an early study of entrepreneurial households within the UK farming sector, Carter (1996) identified a three stage continuum of business development; mono-active farmers, who had no further business activities beyond their farm; diversified farms, where several business activities were organized within the same firm; and portfolio entrepreneurs, who established new business activities as separate firms located on or off the farm. Hence, moving from organizing a new venture within an existing firm to the establishment of a separate formal entity may be seen as a process depending on the stage of venture development. Of course, there may also be other reasons behind the choice of mode of venture organizing, related to the experience of the entrepreneur (Wiklund and Shepherd, 2008), the resource endowments needed to

establish the new venture, as well as issues related to ownership involvement, tax and fiscal considerations (Iacobucci and Rosa, 2010). The development of a business portfolio as a growth mechanism within an entrepreneurial household is considered further below.

Households, Kinship and Business Growth

In line with Aldrich and Cliff (2003), several scholars have argued that understanding the context for entrepreneurial growth requires a focus on the business-family nexus, as family issues have a major impact on strategic decision-making, and that business decisions are influenced both by family circumstances and the economic conditions facing the business (Carter and Ram, 2003; Chrisman et al., 2005; Habbershon and Williams, 1999 Gedajlovic and Carney, 2010; Wright and Kellermanns, 2011).

While business growth is normally viewed as confined to the small number of high growth firms that contribute the bulk of new employment, innovation and wealth creation (Shane, 2008), it has been argued that firm-level analysis fails to capture a significant proportion of entrepreneurs who achieve growth by developing a portfolio of businesses (Iacobucci and Rosa, 2010). This raises questions not only about growth strategies, but also the level of analysis that should be applied when exploring issues relating to business growth. Early studies of portfolio entrepreneurship focused on the individual entrepreneur noting that business growth could be achieved either by increasing the size of an existing firm or through the start-up of new firms (Scott and Rosa, 1997; Wiklund and Shepherd, 2008). Research into the formation of business groups, i.e. a set of companies run by the same entrepreneur or entrepreneurial team, suggests that portfolio entrepreneurs create groups of businesses that are tied together through joint ownership, management and/or board memberships (Iacobucci

and Rosa, 2010). Studies have demonstrated that existing firms may function as seedbeds for new business ventures (Ucbasaran, Westhead, Wright et al, 2003), allowing new ventures to utilize resources of an established business during the risky start-up phase and at a later stage being spun out into separate business units. Through ownership of a group of businesses, the portfolio entrepreneur can operate as a larger corporate group as required and still retain the advantages and control of the small owner-managed business (Rosa, 1998). Such business clusters are complex in the sense that they can involve partnerships between different owners, and that they develop over time (Iacobucci and Rosa, 2010). Complexity increases further if ownership involves several people tied together within an entrepreneurial household.

If one examines the entrepreneurial household, it becomes clear that portfolio strategies are not only the domain of the individual entrepreneur, but are apparent at the household level, with multiple businesses being operated by individuals, or jointly by family members. Hence, discussions of business growth through the development of a cluster of enterprises united through ownership by an individual or a family group are particularly relevant for entrepreneurial households. While entrepreneurial growth practices in family businesses are typically associated with one dominant entrepreneur, the entrepreneurial household context provides other family members with the opportunity to observe successful entrepreneurial practices (Plate, Schiede & Von Schlippe, 2010). The household is also particularly useful for exploring the complexity of portfolio entrepreneurship. The strategies of portfolio entrepreneurs are seen as tightly connected to those of the household; ownership, management and governance can be divided between household members, adding further complexity. Drawing on four case studies, Sieger et al. (2011) developed a model of how portfolio entrepreneurship evolves in family firms, focusing on resource deployment in the portfolio process. Generating important insights into the strategic development of business

portfolios in a family firm context, this study suggested that the family develops human, reputational and social capital from their enterprising experience and that these valuable resources are further developed through the creation of new ventures. Variations in resource deployments related to an enterprising family can be crucial for the development process of a portfolio family business, but do not explain why the family chose to develop a portfolio of businesses. While Sieger et al. (2011) acknowledged the importance of family members for new business development; they did not examine the interaction between household members and the business portfolio.

A more recent qualitative study of business growth in entrepreneurial households addresses this issue finding that even when organized as separate and independent firms, the businesses owned by members of these households were highly interconnected. This was evident from the extensive resource borrowing and sharing between firms, and the coordination of activities, supplier-customer relationships and joint networks (Alsos et al, 2014). Decisions about the mode of organizing opportunities did not appear to determine separation or interconnection of different business activities; rather family relations were the mechanism through which business interconnections were organized. Through four in-depth case studies of entrepreneurial households originating in the agricultural sectors but diversified well beyond the original business, Alsos et al (2014) sought to understand how household strategy influences the development of new businesses. This included the manner in which household characteristics and dynamics influence business growth strategy decisions and how business portfolios were managed and developed by the household. A summary of the four cases is presented in Table 3. The analytical themes that emerged from this study help to illuminate the process of new enterprise creation and provide a nuanced account of the interaction between household, kinship and business growth strategies.

Table 3 Entrepreneurial Households: business portfolios of four cases

Business 1	Business 2	Business 3	Business 4	Business 5 and further
Case 1 The Island Dairy farm	Cheese factory	Tea house (now closed) Pig farming (using the whey)	On farm shop (daughter-in-law)	Two siblings running businesses using farm storage space, labour Swimming pool used by the community
Case 2 The Island Pedigree farm	Self-catering accommodation	B&B- serving farm produced food	Coffee-shop serving farm produced food Art gallery	Abattoir co-owner Butchery co-owner Plans for green electricity Pottery business run by others Off-farm bakery
Case 3 The Valley Pig farm	Electricity production	Let of boat and accommodation facilities to fishing tourists		
Case 4 The Valley Goat farm	Green house together with farm neighbour	Horse breeding Job as machine operator	In the process of starting a dairy cheese factory together with others	Plans for electricity production and tourist business using horses

Source: Adapted from Alsos, Carter and Ljunggren (2014: 97)

The first theme identified by Alsos et al (2014) centred on the inter-connectedness of the business and the household, seen in cross-subsidies and resource sharing, the evolution of activities as families grow and new opportunities are identified, and the commodification of self-fulfilment as personal interests are exploited as business opportunities. The case households demonstrated the complex, integral links that exist between new small ventures and the households that create them. These links were most clearly seen in the degree of resource-sharing that existed between the inter-linked businesses and between the businesses and the household. In each case, there was a co-dependence of the original (farm) venture and new business activities, with each of the additional ventures, to some extent, dependent on other businesses created by the household, such that each household could be seen as a complete system of co-developed businesses. In each case, a sustainable livelihood was

maintained by developing different business activities, using and allocating resources to match the new opportunities. Cross-subsidies between businesses, in terms of material support, were supplemented by shared market development. Crucially, the central link between all the businesses was the household, as also demonstrated in studies by Mulholland (1997) and Wheelock and Mariussen (1997). The household provided business resources, labour and support, such that household resources formed a common pool that could be accessed if necessary. Although support and resources, particularly for businesses started by adult off-spring, may be given out of a sense of altruism, it was also clear that economic necessity was an important factor. While the material resources and emotional capital given to each new business venture helps support individual and collective entrepreneurship, emotional capital also controls the behaviour of individual family members and serves to keep adult off-spring close to the household (Renzulli et al. 2000).

New business activities were started in response to spare resources, often the additional labour capacity of a household member generated, for example, when children reached school age, freeing up a parent's capacity and time to spend more time developing businesses. When new business activities themselves generated surplus capacity, this was reinvested in business activities. Each case showed how business activities evolved as families evolved through the family lifecycle, providing both a greater human resource pool and a broader set of skills and interests that could be exploited. Alsos et al (2014) reported that the inter-connectedness of business and household could be seen in at least four different ways. *Resource sharing* between businesses in the portfolio controlled by the household and between household and business; *opportunities arising from business* – *household interactions* spinning out from existing businesses and farm resources, and from household member interests, competences and resources; *cross-subsidies* where existing and profitable

businesses support new ventures and established business activities which temporarily is unprofitable, particularly through free household labour gaining income from other activities, or through free resource sharing; and finally, through the *household as an organizing hub* connecting the business activities, rather than through a corporation structure or through the ownership of one single entrepreneur.

The second theme focused upon family and kinship relations as a business resource base, highlighting the different entrepreneurial roles of family members and, again, the linkage between business and family lifecycles. Larger families were able to provide a potentially larger resource base for business activities than smaller families. New family members, introduced through marriage, brought a new set of kinship relations further extending the family's pool of human capital, labour and social connections. Hence, an individual's choice of marital partner assumed a greater importance for the wider household economy, as spouses contributed varying levels of labour and expertise; however, a divorce had the potential for ramifications for the wider household, not only the couple involved. Because of the dependence upon family and kinship relations within the entrepreneurial household, the business lifecycle was strongly related to the family lifecycle; as children became adults, they contributed labour and developed their own business activities. The family also played a role in the entrepreneurial process, with each family member recognising, evaluating and exploiting new business opportunities. Kinship bonds secure control over activities but could also be used to sanction unwanted behaviour. Emotional capital such as support and trust, in addition to labour and other resources, contributed to the business start-ups. Hence, the entire household contributed to building a business portfolio and the knowledge and resources of the family and their businesses were used to develop the portfolio further, even if new business activities were formally owned by other individuals.

Alsos et al (2014) highlighted the various ways in which family and kinship relations play an important role for business growth, through: the *family life cycle* which was closely matched to business development; *kinship ties* brought into the family through marriage were significant to the development of new business activities; *a division of entrepreneurial roles* was important as each family member played different roles within the entrepreneurial activities of the household, some being more involved in identifying opportunities, others in various parts of bringing identified opportunities into viable business activities; *emotional capital* provided through family and kinship relations was an important support for business development, but it was also used to control and sanction behaviour.

The third theme identified by Alsos et al (2014) focused upon risk, uncertainty and control in which resource sharing between ventures increased efficiencies across the different businesses, risk lay in the opportunity cost of pursuing one venture over another idea and the ideology of self-sufficiency led to controlled and inconspicuous, often frugal, consumption. Interestingly, the major risk perceived by these families was not the creation of new business ventures, but the initial decision to take over the farm business. Once that decision had been made, the creation of additional new business ventures was regarded as relatively risk free, as resources at hand were used to develop new business activities in an evolution of the enterprise. Family time and labour was viewed as a free resource, and pursuing new business opportunities often required little financial outlay. Resource sharing between businesses, the use of spare capacity, and financial bootstrapping coupled with incremental increases in financial and time investments also controlled the risk of new venture creation. Using spare resources to create new business opportunities was an integral part of the evolution of new business activities, as new ventures create their own by-products or spare capacity which

could then be allocated to new ventures. This bricolage type approach brought little risk, but also reduced the capacity for large profits (Baker and Nelson, 2005). These entrepreneurial households minimized financial risk by reducing financial outlay, using resources at hand such as spare floor space, redundant buildings, released time, excess production, new competencies or a new person in the household.

Uncertainty was further reduced by actively controlling the new venture. Opportunities were pursued that closely matched owner skill and interests; larger scale expansion was seen as unwelcome, especially if it meant losing control. This low-risk low-profit approach is most suggestive of an ideology of self-sufficiency, where consumption is carefully controlled and mainly inconspicuous. Alsos et al (2014) highlighted three distinct ways in which entrepreneurial households take control rather than considering risk and uncertainty in business development: *orientation towards available resources* by focusing on resources at hand, new business activities are developed without taking on noticeable risk, similar to that seen in bricolage (Levi-Strauss, 1966) or in Sarasvathy's (2008) "bird-in-the-hand-principle"; *control orientation*, new business activities were not seen as risky, simply as an evolution of existing businesses of the household utilizing existing capacity, competence, resources and networks in new activities; *portfolio of ventures as one entity* business activities were viewed as a single entity with different parts, with each required to contribute positively to be considered viable though not necessarily profitable in its own right.

5. ENTREPRENEURIAL HOUSEHOLDS: RESOURCES AND CONSEQUENCES

Household Resources for Entrepreneurial Activities

Resource transactions are central to the relationship between the household and the family's various business activities. Indeed, it is their role in determining business resources that distinguishes entrepreneurial households from other types of households. As Brush and Manolova (2004: 39) explain, "Household structure has an impact on venture creation because it is a direct determinant of the starting resource base for the entrepreneur". Households administer the family's economic and human resources (Wheelock and Oughton, 1996; Brush and Manolova, 2003), and entrepreneurial households allocate resources between the various business activities operated by the family (Alsos and Carter, 2006; Alsos, et al., 2012; Sieger et al., 2011). As we have shown above, studies have also demonstrated that within the entrepreneurial household, existing firms may function as seedbeds for the new business ventures allowing new ventures to utilize resources of an established business during the risky start-up phase and at a later stage being spun out into separate business units (Dyer and Handler, 1994; Carter, 1998; Alsos and Carter, 2006).

Resource access and resource scarcity are both influential in the way new businesses are created. A study of the effect of family and household capital in new venture start-up rates found a strong positive relationship between household wealth and new venture start-up, with wealth attributed to a reduction in borrowing constraints as well as to an 'intergenerational momentum that passes through economically successful families (Rodriguez, Tuggle and Hackett, 2009: 269). Others have pointed to the importance of more intangible resources, particularly the emotional wealth endowed to the entrepreneur and the business from family

and kinship groups, in the new venture creation process (Cruz, Justo and De Castro, 2012: Shepherd, 2016). Nevertheless, most new ventures are resource constrained and the issue of acquiring and organizing resources is a central part of the start-up process (Davidsson, 2012). The interconnectedness of household and business leads to flexibility in resource availability, as households can release resources from other household activities and make them available for business development when required or agreed. However, households can also withdraw resources from the business when they are needed for other purposes. Hence, resources available for a business activity are not fixed in size, scale and availability. Resources develop over time as new knowledge is achieved, new people arrive, or surplus is created from on-going activities (Alsos, et al., 2012). The household plays a role in determining resource provision and withdrawal, and this crucial resource determining role needs to be taken into account in understanding venture creation and business ownership.

While in other types of households it is assumed that wages and salary earned outside of the household subsidize the domestic and family sphere, in entrepreneurial households the 'inextricably intertwined' relationship between business and household (Aldrich and Cliff, 2003:573) suggests a more complex scenario regarding resource provision - particularly financial resources. Studies reveal that in a large proportion of entrepreneurial households, financial resources are derived from multiple sources, not only business ownership. Other sources of income include the employment of household members, the purchase of commercial and domestic property for onward rental, the ownership of multiple businesses, share-holding and equity portfolios, pensions, grants, and social security transfers (Devine, 1994; Carter, Tagg, and Dimitratos, 2004). The diversification of household income over a broad range of economic activities reduces household dependency on the enterprise, enabling the household to 'patchwork' incomes from a number of sources (Kibria, 1994; Mulholland,

1997). At the same time, multiple income sources within the household offer advantages to the business, both by relieving the pressure to generate household income and by providing a source of readily available external finance when required (Gentry and Hubbard, 2004). This suggests that there is great potential for cross-subsidy between the business and the household, highlighting financial resource interactions in which each institution supports the other.

The use of household resources within entrepreneurial households was evident in the Alsos et al (2014) study, described above, where resources were found to play a central role in three different processes related to the building of the family business portfolios. Resource supply, sharing and withdrawal were central to the process in which business and household were inter-connected. It became clear that while the households were financially dependent on the businesses, the opposite was also true as businesses were frequently supported by the household, for example when family money is sent back to the firms, during crisis or when new opportunities arise, or when homes were re-mortgaged in order to keep the business afloat. Family and kinship relations are clearly a business resource base from which the businesses could draw resources when needed for further development, including money, work force, equipment, facilities, premises and other tangible resources, but also competence, reputation, networks and other intangible resources. Resource sharing between ventures and resource flexibility between household and business were fundamental to the ways in which entrepreneurial households took control over uncertainty and risk related to business venturing. The ability of households to flexibly transfer and share resources between their businesses and between household and business can be seen as a way of managing resource scarcity and allowing business activity to grow through the development of new ventures, while simultaneously controlling insecurity.

Similar findings were reported by Sieger et al (2011), who developed a model of resource deployment in building business portfolios within family firms. The wider household provides access to a variety of resources, as well as knowledge, skills, social norms and attitudes applicable to enterprise development. As the family develops human, reputational and social capital from their enterprising experience, these valuable resources are further developed through their investment in new venture creation. The relationship of the entrepreneur's family to the new enterprise can be a significant contributor to its success or failure. Embedded relationships, such as family and kinship relations, may provide nascent entrepreneurs with access to low cost resources (Newbert and Tornikoski, 2013), though resource transfer between households and businesses may have negative consequences for both. The family's willingness to support the venture financially may be critical for the possibility to acquire sufficient funding for a new start-up. The family may also provide other enabling resources such as access to markets, sources of supply, technology or new ideas or a background, expertise and connections in business. The use of social networks, inevitably more extensive among the household than for an individual, may be particularly crucial. Long (1979:148), provided a detailed anthropological account of a successful Latin American entrepreneur from humble origins who benefited both from growing up within a close-knit kin network and developing a set of affinal relationships through marriage, which opened up "new fields of participation, making available new types of material and non-material resources".

Spare resources in the household or in existing business activities are not only important resources for new ventures; they can also be the source of new business opportunities. Family members may use their intimate familiarity with available resources as a way of dealing with

opportunities or challenges as they arise. Spare floor space, redundant buildings, released time, excess production, new competence or a new person in the household all represent resources available for profitable use. Awareness of such resources may lead to the identification of new opportunities to be exploited by one or several family members. Alsos et al (2014) reported that in one case of an entrepreneurial household, a young woman was able to develop significant new activities such as a stud and a glasshouse flower production business as a consequence of her children reaching school age enabling her to invest more time in entrepreneurial activity. In other cases, additional ventures were seen to develop from the commodification of personal interests and skills of household members (Alsos, et al., 2012). Households are the core connection between the different family businesses in the portfolio, providing business resources, labour and support, such that household resources formed a common pool that could be accessed by all members as and when necessary.

Although support and resources, particularly for businesses created by adult off-spring, may be given from a sense of altruism, they are also the result of common household decisions as to how resources should be utilised. In this regard, household allocative decisions regarding the provision or withholding of resources can be seen as an explicit demonstration of the existence of a household strategy. Notably, household resources are rather different from externally sourced resources, in as much as they may be accompanied by emotional controls. While material resources and emotional capital given to a household's new business venture help support individual and collective entrepreneurship, emotional capital also controls the behaviour of individual family members and serves to tie adult off-spring to the household.

There may be other liabilities associated with household resources given to business activities. Not only is it possible that the resources available within the household are

inappropriate or insufficient for the business's needs, the effects of business ownership upon the household are largely unknown and may be socially and economically detrimental. Questioning the effects of entrepreneurship upon family well-being, Jennings, Breitkreuz and James (2013) exhort scholars to pay greater attention to the implications of business ownership for the family and to critically scrutinize the view that 'all enterprise good, more enterprise better'. The diverse effects of business ownership upon households and families are discussed further below.

Is Entrepreneurship Good for Households and Families?

As the preceding sections have demonstrated, entrepreneurship research has begun to focus on the role of the household in guiding individual and firm level entrepreneurial decisions and processes. Although there is a growing appreciation of the role of the household in determining entrepreneurial activities and outcomes, there is a second, equally important, element of the household entrepreneurship nexus, which is the effect that entrepreneurship has on households, particularly household well-being. The issue of whether entrepreneurship is good for families was explicitly questioned by Jennings et al., (2013) calling for a critical analysis of the effects of business ownership on families. In describing five overlapping areas where the impact of entrepreneurship on families and households might be explored, Jennings et al (2013) provide a comprehensive approach to exploring this issue. Hitherto, the main focus has been upon exploring the effects of business ownership upon individuals whilst households were considered only in terms of incomes derived from entrepreneurship and the financial consequences of business ownership (Carter 2011; Astebro and Chen, 2014).

The financial effects of business ownership were described by Jennings et al (2013) as, "arguably the most obvious domain in which to examine the impact of business ownership on family well-being" (p.481), but were excluded from their framework, partly because researchers were already exploring this issue. The areas described by Jennings et al (2013: 482) as those in which business ownership had an effect upon families and households, and the key foci of existing research, were identified as:

- work-family integration, including work-family conflict/ balance; linkages between work, family and health; under and over employment; work-family policy;
- gender roles, including interconnections between gender ideology, resource dependence, time use, and the division of labour within the home
- 3. marital relationships, including the impacts of cohabitation, parenthood, and relationship processes on marital quality, satisfaction and outcomes;
- child well-being, including linkages between child well-being and maternal employment, poverty and socioeconomic status, family fragility, parenting quality and work-family conflict; and,
- intergenerational family ties, including the support that adult children provide to aging parents, the support provided by grandparents, intergenerational relationships in transnational families.

While some of these issues, for example, gender roles, have been well rehearsed within the research literature, others have been afforded very little research attention within the entrepreneurship subject domain. Rather than reiterate the areas extensively covered by Jennings et al (2013), we focus below on the 'most obvious' but excluded element, and consider the financial effects of business ownership on entrepreneurial households.

The Financial Effects of Business Ownership

The financial effects of business ownership, as Jennings et al (2013) described, may be the most obvious topic to pursue in researching the effects of business ownership; however, in practice, entrepreneurship scholars have only belatedly shown interest in the financial consequences and rewards of entrepreneurial action for the individual. Thus, the financial ramifications of entrepreneurship for the individual and the household are largely unknown. A key explanation for the lack of scholarly attention devoted to the financial rewards of business ownership is the obvious difficulties in researching this issue: measures of financial rewards are not immediately obvious, data collection requires the probing of sensitive information; and the unit of analysis is ambiguous (Carter, 2011). The insights that have been generated around the financial rewards of business ownership have largely been undertaken by labour economists studying the comparative incomes of the self-employed. Their work has highlighted the dramatic and sustained loss of income an individual may anticipate moving from employment into entrepreneurship (Hamilton, 2000; Blanchflower, 2004; Blanchflower and Shadforth, 2007). Sophisticated studies of incomes derived from self-employment have shown that median incomes from entrepreneurship are lower than equivalent incomes from employment, and that the earnings difference increases over time (Hamilton, 2000). The picture that emerges stresses the evident precarity of entrepreneurship, where individual risks are rewarded by volatile, often meagre returns (Shane, 2008).

Yet, contradictory evidence exists which challenges these findings. In contrast, research has shown entrepreneurs to be significantly wealthier than those in paid employment having disproportionately higher levels of household assets and total net worth (Quadrini, 2000; Cagetti and De Nardi, 2006; Nanda, 2008). As opposed to studies focused only on incomes, studies of wealth capture the stock of economic resources in the form of accumulated

personal assets (Mwaura and Carter, 2015). The use of incomes as a measure of entrepreneurial success is now recognised as a highly problematic measure, prone to underreporting and mis-measurement (Astebro and Chen, 2013). More importantly, studies of incomes derived from entrepreneurial activities fail to capture either the financial rewards of entrepreneurs or the economic well-being of the household. Contrary to the depictions of precarity and impoverishment, studies that focus on *comparative* wealth reinforce the popular stereotype that entrepreneurs enjoy higher living standards than those typically observed amongst the majority of employees. Furthermore, entrepreneurship researchers are now challenging the use of narrow and static measures, such as incomes, as being inaccurate and inappropriate for studying the financial effects of business ownership. It is recognised that the financial rewards of business ownership are likely to vary dramatically over the business lifecycle (Carter, 2011; Carter and Welter, 2016). It has also become clear that studies focused on enumerating incomes do not explain, at a fundamental level, how entrepreneurial households manage to survive and often prosper given presumptions of uncertain and irregular financial rewards.

One of the defining characteristics of entrepreneurship is the ability to determine the form, the value and the timing of financial rewards that are extracted from the business. These include direct financial rewards (such as drawings, net profit, shareholder dividends and equity sales), as well as indirect financial rewards (such as goods and services nominally owned by the firm but available for personal and household consumption). The extraction of these financial rewards can be adjusted to suit prevailing business conditions as well as the entrepreneur's personal requirements. The close, often inseparable, relationship between the entrepreneur and the firm suggests that decisions about financial rewards are seldom based solely on business logic, but also take account of personal and household needs (Carter and

Welter, 2016). Hence, frugal entrepreneurs may extract only notional weekly drawings, but the amount will vary depending on personal needs and business affordability. Larger rewards, such as dividends and profit, may similarly be varied, in order to maximise personal and business advantage. Consequently, it has been argued that understanding the financial effects of business ownership requires an approach that captures the multi-faceted nature of the rewards, the processes of reward decision-making over the business lifecycle, while contextualising reward decisions within the entrepreneurial household (Carter, 2011; Carter and Welter, 2016).

The multi-faceted nature of financial rewards can be seen in Table 4 which presents six main dimensions of entrepreneurial reward structures which contribute towards economic well-being within entrepreneurial households (Carter, Alsos and Ljunggren, 2015). First, there is the *definitional* aspect, that is, the items that should be included in the assessment of financial rewards. Second, there is a *distributional* aspect that includes the potentially large variations in entrepreneurial earnings. Third, there is the *economic status* aspect which considers the living standards and lifestyle of the household. Fourth, the *business-household* aspect highlights the permeability of the boundaries between the business and the household with regard to earnings, wealth, expenditure and consumption, and requires consideration because of the possibility of cross-subsidies between the business and the household spheres. Fifth, there is the *multiple income* aspect which accounts for the multiple sources of income from which an entrepreneur's household may benefit. Finally, the *non-financial rewards* also require consideration as these are an inseparable aspect of entrepreneurial activities. While non-financial rewards pose problematic measurement issues, these clearly have both value and importance for individuals and households engaged in entrepreneurial activities.

Table 4: The Dimensions of Economic Wellbeing in Entrepreneurial Households

Reward Dimensions	Measure
Business Income	Financial rewards, including drawings (wages), salary, net profit, capital gain for each business owned – measured over time
Income Distribution	Sectoral variations between firms in different industry sectors Regional variations between high and low paying regions Temporal variations between new start, growth, mature and declining firms
Economic Status	The living standards, consumption and lifestyle of business- owning households Accrued from businesses owned or from alternate sources? Accrued by nominal 'business owner' or other household member?
Business-Household	Permeability between business & household Cross-subsidies in both directions measured over time
Multiple Incomes	Multiple sources of income from businesses, directorships, shareholding, property rental, employment, pensions, social welfare and those of other household members
Non-Financial Rewards	Non-financial rewards, including components of job satisfaction, autonomy and happiness, emotional well-being and family harmony, non-material 'psychic' income, codified and valued. Sectoral variations in provision of non-financial rewards Regional variations in non-financial rewards and quality of life indicators Temporal variations in non-financial rewards between new start, growth, mature, declining firms Relationship between non-financial benefits and financial rewards

Source Carter, Alsos and Ljunggren (2015)

Research focused upon the financial rewards of entrepreneurship immediately highlights the centrality of the entrepreneurial household as a key influence on reward decision-making. The household is influential not only in terms of extracting rewards from the business, but also in allocating financial and non-financial resources to the business. While in some situations, the allocation of resources from the household occurs only at the start-up phase of the venture. However, as argued earlier, household level studies are now demonstrating that the allocation of household resources to entrepreneurial ventures is a persistent occurrence

evident throughout the lifecycle of the venture (Alsos et al, 2014). The wider influence of the family and household can be seen in other ways, including in the management of uncertain and irregular rewards from the business to the household; in distinctive patterns of consumption and savings at the household level; and, by providing a subsidy for entrepreneurship through waged employment of household members (Marlow and Swail, 2014).

In comparison with wage and salary rewards derived from employment, the financial rewards of entrepreneurship are uncertain and irregular, and not only effect the individual, but have wider repercussions for the family who also sacrifice income certainty and regularity (Kuhl, 2015). How these uncertain, irregular rewards are managed, and their potential effects within the entrepreneurial household have yet to be explained. In general, there is little detailed understanding of the relationship between income and expenditure at the household level. While Pahl's (1989) pioneering studies of household allocative systems provide some insights into how households manage money, these were undertaken with employee households with reasonably regular (if constrained) incomes. Mulholland's (1996) analysis of wealthy, multi-generational entrepreneurial families provided further insights into household resource management, challenging the stereotypical view of men as the central agents of wealth creation and women as beneficiaries and consumers. However, these findings may not apply to the everyday experiences of more typical, resource constrained entrepreneurial households. Clearly, there will be merit in examining the financial allocative practices of entrepreneurial households in order to better understand how resource and money management practices, at the level of the household, impact upon business growth and development over time.

There is evidence that, within many entrepreneurial households, incomes are derived from multiple sources. These include the ownership of multiple businesses, the purchase of commercial and domestic property for onward rental, further employment of household members, shareholding and equity portfolios, pensions, grants and social security transfers (Carter, Tagg and Dimitratos, 2004; D'Haese, De Wildt and Rubens, 2008). The diversification of household income over a broad range of economic activities reduces household dependency on the enterprise, enabling the household to 'patchwork' incomes from a number of sources (Kibria, 1994). Multiple income sources also allow households to smooth the income flowing into the household, enabling more effective planning for regular household outgoings, such as rent or mortgage payments. The ownership and onward rental of domestic or commercial property is a particularly attractive source of additional income for entrepreneurial households. It both provides rental income, which typically covers the cost of mortgage payments, and also provides a saleable asset which increases in value in line with property values. Such a strategy may also be used as a form of savings for future retirement, replacing the occupational pension that is more typically associated with employment, rather than entrepreneurship.

Multiple income sources within the household also offer advantages to the business, by relieving the pressure to generate household income and by providing a source of readily available finance when required (Gentry and Hubbard, 2004). Studies of female self-employment rates have found that these are higher among women whose spouse is in paid employment (Devine, 1994; Ronsen, 2014). Devine (1994) explained that within conventional, two partner households, the regular wage or salary income and the fringe benefits of employment, for example health insurance, earned by one partner, provide financial security to the household, allowing the other partner to pursue their entrepreneurial

ambitions. Hence, waged employment undertaken by a household member acts as a subsidy to entrepreneurship by removing the burden of household income generation. Evidence of this type of household subsidy to entrepreneurship has mainly focused on self-employed women 'subsidized' by employed spouses (Devine, 1994); however, given the relatively higher rates of male self-employment, a female waged employment subsidy to male entrepreneurship may be more common. The relationship between household and business incomes suggests a strong potential for financial intermingling and cross-subsidies between the two institutions (Yilmazer and Schrank, 2006), although the extent to which this occurs and the impact of this type of interaction on the business and on the household is not well understood.

In an analysis of the influence of gender upon business exit and closure decisions, Marlow and Swail (2015) argue that the dependence of the household upon the income from entrepreneurial activity will delay or expedite the decision to close a firm. So for example, using the case of the small-scale female owned firm based in the home, utilised as a stop gap to accommodate domestic labour with a sub-optimal or marginal performance, the enterprise may persist in the market if cross subsidised from other sources of household income. This argument is based upon the premise of a persistent disparity between male and female incomes - where in the UK for example, men earn approximately 13.9% more than women and this increases expeditiously for part-time employees to around 40%, (The Fawcett Society: 2016) - so, as a source of a secondary income, it is not essential for these firms to generate a profit. Alternatively, this scenario might be equally applied to a male-owned business and in fact, Carter (2011) advances a strong argument that given the relatively higher rates of male self-employment, a female employment wage subsidy to male entrepreneurship may in fact be more common. In effect, the primary household wage earner

(whether male or female) financially subsidises the entrepreneurial business such that maximising returns may not be a priority. Moreover, particularly for women, where better quality employment opportunities may be limited by domestic/caring responsibilities, the attractions of sub-optimal entrepreneurship increase if subsidised via a primary [male] house hold income.

One consequence of the financial uncertainty that accompanies self-employment or business ownership is the need to engage in markedly different patterns of expenditure and savings at the household level. This is a key difference between entrepreneurial households and employee households and adds further weight to the need to reconsider and update Pahl's (1989) analysis of household money management to understand how entrepreneurial households adjust to and continue to manage irregular and uncertain income flows. Drawing from Chayanov's (1986) theory of peasant economy, it has been assumed that entrepreneurial households adjust consumption in the form of direct expenditure to suit prevailing economic conditions; however, even in periods of relative economic prosperity, personal consumption is tempered by the need for substantial savings in order to offset large future earnings risks (Kuhl, 2016). In comparison with employee households, entrepreneurial households appear to be typified by frugal consumption and higher savings (Quadrini, 2000; Cagetti and De Nardi, 2006). Yet, the reasons why some households are prepared to accept financial uncertainty and frugality, while others prefer the more apparent certainties of employment, are largely unknown. It is likely that individual entrepreneurial households perceive and attend to the management and negotiation of entrepreneurial rewards differently, but the precise dimensions that underpin these variations between households are uncertain. As we have seen, entrepreneurial households are distinctive from employee households in so far as they are able to make decisions about the type, value and timing of financial rewards, and to

negotiate expenditure and savings patterns at the household and business level. But the manner in which these resources are controlled - and by whom - remains entirely unknown (Carter and Welter, 2016).

Despite apparently low incomes, business owners typically describe high levels of personal satisfaction accruing from a sense of independence and autonomy in their working lives. Indeed, labour economists who question why so many are attracted to self-employment despite low incomes and long hours, explain this apparent paradox by suggesting that nonfinancial benefits, such as independence, flexibility and job satisfaction, compensate for low financial rewards (Hamilton, 2000; Blanchflower, 2004; Shane, 2008). As Hamilton (2000:629) explains, "The self-employed earnings differential reflects entrepreneur willingness to sacrifice substantial earnings in exchange for the non-pecuniary benefits of owning a business". Surprisingly few studies of entrepreneurial earnings have collected data concerning the precise nature of the alleged differential that compensates for low earnings. Most assume its presence circumstantially, citing studies that report higher levels of autonomy, satisfaction and happiness among entrepreneurs as explanation for the entrepreneurial earnings anomaly. This argument is persuasive, given the apparent financial irrationality of the individual's decision to pursue entrepreneurship as a career option, coupled with studies that have stressed the personal benefits associated with being one's own boss.

Studies that have considered the non-financial dimensions of work highlight four core job characteristics that contribute towards job satisfaction: autonomy, task identity, task variety and performance feedback. The search for enhanced levels of job satisfaction and hence, an improved quality of life, often cast as 'work-life balance', has preoccupied organizational and

human resource management theorists in studies of the organizationally employed (Eikhof, Warhurst and Haunschild, 2007; Warhurst, Eikhof and Haunschild, 2008). Such analyses have rarely considered entrepreneurs as a distinct group requiring separate consideration. One explanation for the exclusion of entrepreneurs from such studies may be that entrepreneurship, unlike organizational employment, provides individuals with the means of controlling the critical dimensions of job satisfaction. There is ample scientific evidence to support this view, as it is widely understood that a key motivating factor in the decision to pursue an entrepreneurial career is a desire for independence and gain control over one's working life (Kolvereid, 1996; Bradley and Roberts, 2004). As such, it is likely that with the high levels of autonomy and job satisfaction that have been observed among entrepreneurs, comparing the work life balance of entrepreneurs with that of employees may prove to be spurious.

A more appropriate focus for analysis when considering the linkages between the business and the household may relate to issues of cooperation and conflict within the household regarding business activities including: the use of financial resources for the business; the time spent on the business; strategic decisions regarding growth, diversification or market development; the use and remuneration of family labour, including children's labour contribution; issues relating to over-employment and under-employment; and the use of domestic space for business related purposes. These research issues require a focus on the entrepreneurial household and the adoption of a household perspective in which the entrepreneur is viewed *outwards* from the household in order to understand the origins of strategic decisions that may affect the business. One of the implications of adopting a household perspective to entrepreneurship research is attaining deeper insights into core issues relating to issues such as strategic business growth.

In summary, therefore, it is apparent that researchers have begun to recognise the obvious importance of understanding the financial effects of business ownership upon the individual and the household. Yet, we are far from understanding either the financial rewards of entrepreneurship, the money management systems that are deployed by entrepreneurial households, or the manner in which entrepreneurial households both subsidise and are subsidised by business ownership. It is clear that a consideration of the financial effects of entrepreneurship on households and families raises important questions that are fundamental to understanding both the nature and the consequences of entrepreneurial action. Some questions for future research posed by Carter (2011) include:

- 1. What are the components of economic well-being in entrepreneurship? To what extent do the relative financial components of wellbeing vary over time, and between entrepreneurial ventures? What dimensions underpin any potential variance?
- 2. What is the relationship between entrepreneurial rewards and venture performance? How does venture performance translate into rewards at the individual and household level?
- 3. To what extent does overall economic wellbeing achieved through entrepreneurship over the lifecycle of the venture compare with, or compensate for, the financial returns from alternative occupations?
- 4. What is the nature of the 'intertwined' relationship between entrepreneurial household and entrepreneurial venture with regard to the construction of economic wellbeing?
- 5. How are uncertain rewards managed; how are consumption and savings patterns negotiated between the household and the venture? How do the negotiated outcomes vary across the business and household lifecycle?

6. What is the relative role of the household and the venture in reward decision making processes and controls?

Housing Assets, Neighbourhoods and Home Based Businesses

While a household perspective implies a focus on what takes place inside the home, in particular the interaction between household members and the effect that these may have on business start-up and growth, we recognize that the home itself is not only a site of social relations, but may also be significant capital asset and resource base that influences entrepreneurial activities. In particular, housing wealth can alleviate credit constraints for potential entrepreneurs, by enabling home owners to extract equity from their home to invest in a business start-up. An analysis of the effect of housing wealth on new business creation in the US found a strong correlation between house prices, home equity and business ownership, concluding that a "10% increase in home equity increases the probability that a non-business-owning household will switch to entrepreneurship in the future by around 7%" (Corradin and Popov, 2015: 2425). Studies from the UK appear to support the connection between housing market activity and new firm formation; in effect, owner-occupation and the value of housing equity both increase an individual's probability of being self-employed (Henley, 2004; Reuschke and MacLennan, 2014). Research examining the use of home ownership as a financial resource for micro-businesses found that 25% of business owners who were also home-owners, had used housing equity to fund their business with the use of personal housing equity more prevalent among businesses with more staff, indicating their relatively higher start-up costs (Reuschke and Houston, 2016).

While the connections between home-ownership and business-ownership have become clearer, particularly with regard to the role of housing equity in relieving credit constraints, the relationship between the residential neighbourhood of the entrepreneur's home and business ownership remains obscure. Detailed ethnographic studies of embeddedness within a community indicate that the relationship between entrepreneur and place may be tightlyknit. Analyses of entrepreneur engagement within depleted communities in rural Ireland highlight the influence of communities on entrepreneurial practices and outcomes. McKeevor, Jack and Anderson (2015) reveal how entrepreneurs not only draw upon community resources to operate their ventures but also reciprocate through business contributions to wider community activities. Others suggest that community embeddedness and local interaction is not a universal feature; indeed, it may vary substantially. Reuschke and Houston (2016) argued that, as housing is spatially nested within the neighbourhood, it may be assumed that home-based firms are more likely to use neighbourhood resources and amenities. Counterintuitively, the opposite was found in a detailed survey of businesses in Scotland; businesses located in commercial premises were more likely to use neighbourhood resources (Reuschke and Houston, 2016).

Sobering insights into the connections between residential area and entrepreneurship have been generated by studies examining contemporary patterns of residential segregation and ethnic and racial self-employment, building on early studies of ethnic and racial enclaves (Boyd, 1991; Hiebert. 1993; Portes and Jensen, 1989). Using 1990 US Census data to examine the effect of residential clustering, Fischer and Massey (2000: 420) found that a high degree of residential segregation interacting with poverty led to spatially concentrated deprivation, creating "ghettos of intense disadvantage that offer supremely unfavorable entrepreneurial environments". Fairchild's (2008:69) examination of the influence of

residential segregation on the likelihood of black and white self-employment in the US, found that "blacks are less likely to have access to the factors that are associated with self-employment at the individual, household and neighborhood level". It was concluded that segregation processes influence entrepreneurship independently and higher rates of segregation were "negatively associated with the likelihood of entry into self-employment" (ibid)

Research attention has also focused on the growing prevalence of businesses that are based within the home (Mason, Carter and Tagg, 2011; Mason and Reuschke, 2015). A recent study in Scotland demonstrated the economic significance of home-based businesses, reporting that 56% of businesses are home-based, accounting for 17% of all private sector employment and almost 10% of private sector turnover (Mason and Reuschke, 2015). Homebased businesses are found throughout the economy, but are not evenly distributed by sector. Industries such as agriculture, hotels and retail have a long tradition of owners 'living above the shop', but a majority of businesses in newer industries such as computer and related activities and business services are also home-based businesses (Mason et al, 2011). Indeed, digital entrepreneurship will certainly expand in the future; the relative ease and low cost of digital start-ups suggest 'anyone' can create a business with only 'a laptop, something to sell, and your imagination' (LeBlanc, 2015). On line trading has expanded significantly in recent years; approximately 12 million people, or 31 percent of UK Internet users, engaged in digital venturing in 2011, representing a 50 percent year-on-year increase from 2010 (Williams, 2011). Considerable heterogeneity exists among digital businesses: some are heavily techbased (e.g. web design, e-retail) while others can be classed as digital simply because marketing and communications occur predominantly online. The degree of technical knowledge and resources required, as well as possibilities for scalability, vary significantly

between such businesses. Yet, given the popular rhetoric that digital venturing is particularly suited to low income and marginalized populations requiring only low cost entry and a home based operation, it is likely to expand significantly (Dy, Marlow and Martin, 2016).

While it is increasingly apparent that the home is a significant business incubator - the majority of businesses that operate from commercial premises started in their founder's home, moving out when the business began to grow (Mason and Reuschke, 2015), recent studies show that home-business trends are becoming more complex. Rather than home-based businesses being associated only with new, start-up ventures that move to commercial premises when they achieve scale, studies have recently shown that some mature businesses hitherto based in commercial premises are moving into back the home. Some business owners no longer require or expect expensive commercial premises, and instead prefer the convenience and comfort of working from home (Reuschke and Houston, 2016). The growth of businesses based within the home, whether start-ups or mature enterprises, has not only blurred the boundaries between home and business, it has challenged long-held assumptions on the separation of business and household functions.

6. CONCLUSIONS

Entrepreneurship is an essentially social process which realises a diverse range of socioeconomic outcomes (Steyeart, 2007). Consequently, trying to analyse, evaluate or describe entrepreneurial activities without acknowledging the context within which it occurs can only offer partial account (Welter, 2011). In recognition of such, within this monograph, we have explored the interactions between business activities and entrepreneurial households. In so doing, we question the normative focus upon the individual entrepreneurial actor as the dominant unit of analysis within contemporary research (Ogbor, 2000; Welter, 2011). While acknowledging the growing interest in family firms whereby the role and contribution of family members is foregrounded (Chrisman, et al., 2005; Stewart and Hitt, 2012), we progress this debate by embedding families within households. In addition, we analyse the household as a site of entrepreneurial activity which generates an iterative relationship between the venture and household members. Consequently, we consider how household members, including those not directly involved in the firm, impact upon the business, but we also flip this relationship when exploring how the business shapes the lives, well-being and fortunes of the household. In so doing, we critically evaluate the notion of the 'lone entrepreneur' and recognise the importance of families upon entrepreneurial behaviour, but extend this analysis by offering a more complex overview of the relationships between individuals, families, households and entrepreneurship.

Defining a household is challenging; they are dynamic in terms of individual members and subject to contextual influences. Drawing together a range of definitions (see Chapter Two); we suggest they constitute units of production and consumption comprising of individuals living in proximity within a space which reflects a culturally specific household. When we

transpose this definition to an *entrepreneurial* household, we factor in self-employment and/or business ownership. Such households may, therefore, host firms which employ all family/household members; or be the site of operation for a solo entrepreneur; or contain a firm which employs some family members (where others are in employment) drawing upon both formal and sporadic inputs from a range of household incumbents. Such firms may, or may not, be home based. In effect, the household itself will, in some way, be affected by forms of entrepreneurial activity blurring divisions between the domestic and business sphere.

In considering the historical evolution of the household (Chapter Three), we have outlined how the advent of market capitalism instigated a division between production and consumption (Marx, 2005). As capitalism developed, work was redefined as an economic activity rewarded by a wage; it was separated from the home and undertaken in collective sites of production, such as factories. This saw increasing numbers of people 'going out' to work as previously, in addition to economic activity, work consisted of tasks divided between men, women and children within the household to ensure continued subsistence. The evolution of waged work, undertaken in dedicated spaces such as factories, not only positioned the household primarily as a site of consumption, but also created a new sexual division of labour. As such, men were afforded roles as primarily economic actors within the public sphere while by the early twentieth century the private sphere of the home was deemed a feminised site of domestic and caring labour (Janssens, 1997). Such divisions became normative. Sociological analyses by those such as Parsons (1944) for example, mooted the notion of the 'functional family' (male, economic actor; female, emotional supporter and child-carer), ignoring gendered power disparities and evidence that many women particularly those in poorer families, had maintained a vital role as waged workers. Alternative economic

explanations for household divisions of the 1960s developed resource allocation models (Becker 1965) focused upon the utility of dual forms of production and consumption. Again however, the focus was upon allocative utility, ignoring the social structures and hierarchies which permeate household units and family groups.

Such analyses were critically challenged through the work of Jan Pahl (1984) exploring the differential dynamics of households in terms of member interaction, and particularly how issues of class, gender, power and wealth shaped the manner in which resources were allocated. Moving forward from Pahl's insightful analysis, the household was repositioned as a complex space whereby production and consumption overlapped with relationships pivoting around consensus, coercion and negotiation. Developments from this analysis questioned unitary models of rational household decision making or functional divisions of labour and in so doing, introduced a sociological critique which engaged with issues of gender hierarchies, altruism, bargaining power and access to resources. In particular, this debate illuminated the disadvantaged position of women in families and households. The historical assumption of the functional benefits of a sexual division of labour within households failed to recognise the manner in which this fuelled gendered discrimination (Oakley, 2015). In positioning women in the devalued domestic space of the home, compared to the enhanced status of the masculinised economic sphere, by association feminised activities were afforded detrimental status. While in contemporary developed societies, female economic participation rates are now only slightly lower than those of their male counterparts and women attain higher levels of education, the status deficit of femininity persists (Fine, 2010). This manifests as an enduring income gap between male and female incomes (Fawcett Society, 2016), while continued associations between femininity, caring

work and domestic responsibilities ensure women retain primary responsibility for devalued domestic labour, in addition to their economic activities (Bradley, 2007).

In assessing diverse influences upon household decision strategies, we have also recognised the role of children. The manner in which the presence of children affects household decision making has rarely been acknowledged. Rather than simply being an unproductive source of consumption, children sway household strategies merely by their presence but also, given the contemporary visibility and growing power of children within households, they are afforded a greater voice in decision making (Powell and Greenhaus, 2010). Moreover, as has been noted, the contemporary trend for adult children to either remain in parental households due to the inability to meet the costs of independent living, or returning after divorce, has expanded noticably (Koslow and Booth, 2013). Such shifts in the life course will have a considerable impact upon the dynamics of the household as we see the emergence of more adult inter-generational living within households.

In reviewing the overall evidence regarding how contemporary households operate, we have focused upon strategies, allocation practices and decision making. However, a notable shortcoming in such analyses has been a generic presumption that individuals are waged workers, dependents, workless or retired. Little acknowledgement has been afforded to the entrepreneurial household; this is a serious oversight given the global expansion in self employment and business ownership (Kelly et al., 2016). In the UK, for example, current rates of self-employment (including business ownership) are at a record level with approximately 4.61 million (15.5%) of the economically active population engaged in entrepreneurial activity (Labour Force Survey, 2016). This, of course, does not include informal forms of enterprise such as e-bay traders, undeclared self-employment and hybrid

entrepreneurs who engage in self-employment in addition to salaried employment; such activities are likely to expand given initiatives such as Uber and Airbnb. Consequently, understanding how entrepreneurial households manage resources, develop strategies, generate and allocate income and wealth is critical if we are to fully comprehend the impact of self-employment and business ownership upon society.

As we have acknowledged, some attention has been afforded to enterprising households; this is more evident in developing economies where the role of the household as a site of *both* production and consumption has been explored (Gras and Nason, 2015). Within developed economies, attention has also been afforded to entrepreneurial activity within ethnic minority households given assumptions of stronger kinship and social embeddedness in such communities (Ram, 1994; Valdez, 2016). However, a more encapsulating household perspective is lacking despite a growing body of research upon family enterprise. As we have noted, the literature on family firms (James et al. 2012) has expanded such that it engages with all aspects of entrepreneurial activity from opportunity development to exit strategies. Consequently, our knowledge of the role of families as business owners has grown considerably; yet, how such family enterprises are nested in households and their impact upon such, and vice versa, remains under-explored.

Underpinning our critical analysis of the influence of the household upon entrepreneurial activity is a sense of how integral it is to all aspects of business ownership and management. Thus, recognising that the majority of new ventures are created through social engagement between partnerships, teams or family start-ups, we argue that the socio-economic profile of the household will shape opportunity emergence. Given the scope offered through the proximity of members to develop concepts, exchange ideas, debate proposals and evaluate

viability drawing on embedded experience, knowledge and resources, the household is a rich seedbed. Such discussion and debate can draw upon the input for those who will have no involvement in the firm and indeed, as we have shown, may own other enterprises within the purvue of the household or, be employees elsewhere. One novel effect of such 'opportunity debates' to which we draw attention, is the impact upon children; those who are raised in entrepreneurial households may be more alert to opportunities and crucially, have greater confidence to enact new ventures (Greene et al., 2013).

We have also noted that adopting a household perspective offers scope to develop a more diverse and complex analysis of firm growth patterns (Alsos, 2015). While notions of incremental and linear firm growth trajectories have been questioned (Levie and Lichtenstein, 2010; Storey, 2011), there is an assumption that growth is something that occurs to, and within, the individual firm. Within this monograph, we question this notion. Rather, using the household as a unit of analysis enables us to adopt more diverse approaches to analysing growth pathways. For example, we suggest that in addition to market opportunities, changing household profiles can be the impetus for business growth. Thus, as members join or leave the household due to marriage, divorce, death etc., the profile and role of the business will change and adapt accordingly. Using empirical examples (see Chapter Four) we illustrate how growth may occur as new household members bring a novel stock of resources to the enterprise, or as slack resources are picked up and diverted into portfolio venturing to the benefit of various household members. In this manner, it is not only substantive shifts in market demand and the formal accrual of investment and human capital into a firm which enables growth, but also the changing rhythms of household profiles, strategies and ambitions which guide this process (Alsos et al., 2014). Attention is also drawn to the influence of household dynamics upon business exit decisions; while some attention has been afforded to

succession and stewardship issues in family firms (Le Breton-Miller and Miller, 2009), we suggest that the flow of resources within households is critical to the decision to close or exit the firm. Where there are numerous income pathways into the household, which may arise from employment, self-employment and returns on investment, sub-optimal firms for example operating as hobbies or merely to provide employment for family members, may persist given household support. Such cross subsidisation requires further analysis particularly, if as we have noted, gender is influential in this process (Marlow and Swail, 2015).

When unpacking resource issues (Chapter Five), a central aspect revolves around wealth and incomes; we argue that these notions should be deemed analytically separate while acknowledging their intimate relationship. Taking a household perspective sheds light upon the debate regarding incomes from self-employment and business ownership; while evidence is mixed, there is emerging evidence that suggests median incomes to self employment are lower than those in employment while incomes of business owners are greater (Sorgner, Fritsch and Kritikos, 2014). Within this monograph, we used a household perspective to interrogate this critical issue focusing upon the importance of wealth stocks in addition to income. Carter (2011) argues that entrepreneurial households have greater stocks of wealth for example, as property ownership, investments, business portfolios, all of which add to finantical security but may not return high incomes into the household. Moreover, incomes from entrepreneurship are uncertain given varying market conditions. This will, we suggest, prompt a conservative approach to income extraction while encouraging investment generating wealth for future harvest. Indeed, taking a consistent level of income from the business, as is the case for salaried employment, is likely to be an inefficient and

inappropriate strategy for entrepreneurial households given varying returns from the business and, in addition, the complex and changing needs of members.

Finally we considered spatial issues and entrepreneurial households. As noted, while a business venture may be a household activity, this is not coterminous with home-based enterprise. Thus, a household focus explores resource flow dynamics across allegedly distinct spaces such as private and public spheres. While recognising distinctly differing physical sites of operation, it suggests entrepreneurial activity bridges such divides challenging the notion of dichotomous models of business and households. Given the shift to service based businesses and digital entrepreneurship, an increasing number of ventures are now home based and likely to remain so even as they mature (Mason et al., 2011). This trend is likely to lead to a shift in how homes are used - jointly as commercial and domestic sites of operation which generates far more scope for flexible and intermittent contributions from a diverse range of household members. Relatedly, an expansion in home based household ventures will change local geographies and use of space. Within this monograph, we have focused particularly on examples of farm diversification whereby household members have used the existing produce and infrastructure to generate new opportunities creating a diverse range of businesses (Alsos et al., 2014). We see therefore, stock barns, dairies, traditional pasture land etc being reconstituted as shops, cheese production units and stud farms. Such patterns of changing and diverse uses of local and regional space will be shaped by increasing numbers of household ventures, particularly if located within the home.

It is apparent that adopting a household perspective upon entrepreneurial activity offers much scope for future research. An obvious pathway here is analysing how the stock of resources that households members hold informs all aspects of firm emergence, strategy, management

and development. Of considerable interest is further analyses of the iterative relationship between the dynamics of the firm and the shifting profile of the household; thus, focusing upon resource exchanges and the conditions which affect such flows offers intriguing possibilities for new insights about the fundamental nature of entrepreneurship.

One particular context where this stance could be potentially transformative is in the analysis of the influence of gender upon entrepreneurial activity. As Marlow (2016) argues, within the entrepreneurial domain, gender has become synonymous with women; this has led to a focus upon the eponymous female entrepreneur as the unit of analysis within current debate. This partial analysis ignores the prevalence of team, family and copreneurial ventures; it ignores masculinity and presumes upon heteronormativity. Shifting this analysis to focus upon how gender informs the accrual and exchange of resources within the entrepreneurial household would enable a far more nuanced exploration of gender effects. Equally, how same sex partnerships shape entrepreneurial household activities and strategies has largely been ignored. By taking the household as the unit of analysis, this opens possibilities to generate a more intricate critique of gendered hierarchies and power relations which in turn, will reveal how they shape entrepreneurial intentions and activities.

Another strand of research which offers considerable scope for further consideration revolves around the relationship between entrepreneurship, personal income and household wealth. As we have noted (Chapter Five), distinguishing between these two constructs within the context of the household is essential to shed further light upon the debate surrounding the returns from entrepreneurship. And, as we noted, although the individual entrepreneur is usually the unit of analysis when assesing income, given that in most instances they are

situated within households where systems of cross subidisation from other ventures, interests, employment and investments operate, more research is required to unpack this relationship.

Within current debate, greater attention is now being afforded to decisions surrounding business closure and exit (De Tienne and Wennberg, 2015). Nuances between voluntary closures, strategic harvests and financial failures are now recognised; however, the focus of this debate has tended to pivot upon business owners — as individuals, teams, boards or families — but again, we would argue that the wider household has a significant role to play in such decisions. Of considerable importance for financial failures will be the impact on the household if property has been used as collatoral or conversely, the manner in which harvesting or closure decisions are taken may be influenced by the profile of the household. So, for example, if a venture creates income, employment and meaning for a diverse range of household members, this may sway the lead entrepreneurs harvest/closure decision as it will form part of a household strategy. This emerging area of entrepreneurship research would therefore, benefit from analyses using a household perspective and incorporating household as well as business strategy.

Finally, one theme to which we have alluded that offers potential for further analysis is the negative impact of the household upon the business. As we argued, the need to create employment for household members through diversification and portfolio developments may be detrimental to the core business; equally, household members not directly connected to the business may be co-opted or coerced to contributing to the venture. As Marlow and Swail (2015) noted, for example, as a confluence of resources, household members may cross subsidise businesses and so enable sub-optimal ventures which are essentially draining resource stocks, to persist beyond their viability. And while siting firms within the home may

be beneficial in terms of cost savings and as an accessible work space, collapsing home and work into one space has potentially negative implications. For example, Dy et al. (2016) critically evaluated the alleged benefits of digital entrepreneurship (low cost entry, flexible trading, home based activity) for women in poorer, marginalised households. It was found that such trading was highly intrusive in a number of ways; for instance, operating a home based firm affected the amount of time available for other household tasks and child care. Given the perpetual presence of the business, its needs were prioritised over those of the household as meeting customer demands eroded alleged flexibility while space previously used by the household was given over to the business.

We have only outlined a few suggestions for further research here. However, given our thesis that the nature, structure and dynamics of the household are highly influential upon all facets of entrepreneurial activities and outcomes, there is clearly much scope for future development. Fundamental aspects such as opportunity recognition, resource accrual, management strategies, business growth and decline should be evaluated from a household perspective. Consequently, this monograph offers an initial introduction to a debate which is critical to our understanding of entrepreneurial behaviour while offering exciting prospects for future exploration.

REFERENCES

- Agarwal, B. (1997). 'Bargaining and Gender Relations: Within and Beyond the Household'. *Feminist Economics*, 3,1: 1-51.
- Aldrich H, and Cliff J, (2003) 'The Pervasive Effects of Family on Entrepreneurship: Toward a Family Embeddedness Perspective', *Journal of Business Venturing* 18: 573–96.
- Alsos G, Carter S, and Ljunggren E (2012) 'Complexities of Portfolio Entrepreneurship: The Business-Household Nexus'. Presented to the Academy of Management Conference, Boston.
- Alsos GA, Ljunggren E, and Pettersen LT (2003) 'Farm-Based Entrepreneurs: What Triggers the Start-Up of New Business Activities?' *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development* 10: 435-443.
- Alsos, G. and Carter, S. (2006) 'Multiple Business Ownership in the Norwegian Farm Sector:

 Resource Transfer and Performance Consequences' *Journal of Rural Studies* 22, 2:

 313-322.
- Alsos, G. Carter, S. and Ljunggren, E. (2014a) Kinship and Business: How Entrepreneurial Households Facilitate Business Growth. *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development* 26, 1–2: 97–122.
- Alsos, G., Ljunggren, E. and Carter, S. (2014b) 'Entrepreneurial Families and Households'.

 In F. Welter and T. Baker (Eds.) *The Routledge Companion to Entrepreneurship*London: Routledge, pp. 165-177.
- Alvarez S, and Barney J, (2007) 'Discovery and Creation: Alternative Theories of Entrepreneurial Action'. *Strategic Entrepreneurship Journal* 1: 11-26.
- Anderson, M. Bechhofer, F. and Gershuny, J. (1994) (Eds.) *The Social and Political Economy of the Household*. Oxford, Oxford University Press.

- Ashby, K. and Burgoyne, C. (2008). Separate Financial Entities? Beyond Categories of Money Management. *The Journal of Socio-Economics*, 37(2): 458-480.
- Astebro, T. and Chen, J. (2014). The Entrepreneurial Earnings Puzzle: Mismeasurement or Real? *Journal of Business Venturing*, 29: 88–105.
- Baker T, and Nelson R, (2005) 'Creating Something from Nothing: Resource Construction through Entrepreneurial Bricolage'. *Administrative Science Quarterly* 50: 329-366.
- Basu, K. (2006) Gender and Say: A Model of Household Behaviour with Endogenously Determined Balance of Power. *The Economic Journal*, 116(511): 558-580.
- Beale, J. and Kanji, N. (1999). 'Households, Livelihoods and Urban Poverty', ESCOR
 Background Paper, Department of Social Policy and Administration, London School of Economics and Political Science.
- Becker, G. (1960) An Economic Analysis of Fertility. In Demographic and Economic Change in Developed Countries (pp. 209-240). Columbia University Press.
- Becker, G. (1965) A Theory of the Allocation of Time. The Economic Journal, pp. 493-517.
- Becker, G. (1974) A Theory of Social Interactions. *Journal of Political Economy*, 82(6), 1063-94.
- Becker, G. (1981) A Treatise on the Family. Harvard University Press, Cambridge.
- Belch, M.A. and Willis, L.A., 2002. Family Decision at the Turn of the Century: Has the
- Bittman, M., England, P., Sayer, L., Folbre, N., & Matheson, G. (2003). When Does Gender Trump Money? Bargaining and Time in Household Work1. *American Journal of sociology*, 109(1), 186-214.
- Blanchflower, D.G. (2004). *Self-employment: More May Not be Better*. NBER Working Paper No. W10286, Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Blanchflower, D.G. and Shadforth, C. (2007). Entrepreneurship in the UK. *Foundations and Trends in Entrepreneurship*, 3 (4), 257-64.

- Blau, F., and Kahn, L. (2000) *Gender Differences in Pay*. National Bureau of Economic Research. (No. w7732)
- Blim, M. (2001). 'Italian Women after Development: Employment, Entrepreneurship, and Domestic Work in the Third Italy'. *The History of the Family*, 6: 257-270.
- Blood, R., and Wolfe, D. (1960). Husbands and Wives. The Free Press, Glencoe, IL.
- Blundell, R., Chiappori, P.A. and Meghir, C. (2005) Collective Labor Supply With Children. *Journal of Political Economy*, Vol. 113(6), pp. 1277–306.
- Bourguignon, F. (1999) The Cost of Children: May the Collective Approach to Household Behaviour Help? *Journal of Population Economics*, Vol. 12(4), pp. 503–22.
- Boyd, R. (1991). 'A Contextual Analysis of Black Self-employment in Large Metropolitan Areas, 1970-1980'. *Social Forces*, 70, 2: 409-429.
- Bradley, D.E and Roberts, J.A. (2004). Self-employment and Job Satisfaction: Investigating the Role of Self-efficacy, Depression and Seniority. *Journal of Small Business*Management, 42: 37-58.
- Bradley, H. (2007) Gender, London, Sage.
- Brannon D, Wiklund J, and Haynie, J (2013) 'The Varying Effects of Family Relationships in Entrepreneurial Teams', *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice* 37:1
- Breton-Miller, L., & Miller, D. (2009). Agency vs. stewardship in public family firms: A social embeddedness reconciliation. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, *33*(6), 1169-1191.
- Brush, C. and Manolova, T. (2004). 'Household Structure Variables in the PSED

 Questionnaire', in: Gartner, W. Shaver, K. Carter, N. Reynolds, P. (eds.) *Handbook of Entrepreneurial Dynamics: The Process of Business Creation*. Thousand Oaks, CA.:

 Sage, 39-48

- Burgoyne, C., Clarke, V., Reibstein, J., and Edmunds, A. (2006) 'All My Worldly Goods I Share With You': Managing Money at the Transition To Heterosexual Marriage.

 Sociological Review, 54, pp. 619–637.
- Burgoyne, C., Reibstein, J., Edmunds, A., and Dolman, V. (2007) Money Management

 Systems in Early Marriage: Factors Influencing Change and Stability. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 28(2): 214-228.
- Burton, P., Phipps, S. and Woolley, F. (2007) Inequality Within The Household Reconsidered. In S. Jenkins and J. Micklewright (2007). *Inequality And Poverty Re-Examined*. Oxford University Press, pp. 103-125.
- Cagetti M, and De Nardi M, (2006) 'Entrepreneurship, Frictions and Wealth', *Journal of Political Economy* 114: 853-870.
- Campbell, C. (1995). The Sociology of Consumption, In D. Miller (ed.). *Approaching Consumption*, London: Routledge.
- Caplan B (1999) 'The Austrian Search for Realistic Foundation', *Southern Economic Journal* 65: 823-838.
- Carter, S. (1996). 'The Indigenous Rural Enterprise: Characteristics and Change in the British Farm Sector', *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development* 8: 345-358.
- Carter, S. (1998). 'Portfolio Entrepreneurship in the Farm Sector: Indigenous Growth in Rural Areas?' *Entrepreneurship and Regional Development* 10: 17-32.
- Carter, S. (2011). 'The Rewards of Entrepreneurship: Exploring the Incomes, Wealth, and Economic Well-Being of Entrepreneurial Households', *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice* 35: 39-55
- Carter, S. Alsos, G.A., Ljunggren, E. (2015). *The Irrational Benefits of Small Business*Ownership. In Scott L. Newbert (Ed). Small Business in a Global Economy: Creating

- and Managing Successful Organizations, (Vol. 1) Santa Barbara, CA: Praeger, pp.49-70.
- Carter, S. and Ram, M. (2003). 'Reassessing Portfolio Entrepreneurship: Towards a Multi-disciplinary Approach', *Small Business Economics* 21: 371-380.
- Carter, S. and Welter, F. (2016). Keeping it in the Family: Financial Rewards in Family

 Firms. In A. Fayolle, K. Randerson, G. Dossena and C. Bettinelli (Eds.) *Family Entrepreneurship*. London: Routledge (Rethinking Entrepreneurship Research series),

 pp.131-147.
- Carter, S. Tagg, S. and Dimitratos, P. (2004). 'Beyond Portfolio Entrepreneurship: Multiple Income Sources in Small Firms', Entrepreneurship and Regional Development, 16: 481–499.
- Castells, M. and Portes, A. (1989). 'World Underneath: The origins, dynamics and effects of the Informal Economy'. In A. Portes, M. Castells and L. Benton (Eds). *The Informal Economy: Studies in Advanced and Less Developed Countries*. Johns Hopkins University Press
- Changing Structure of Households Impacted the Family Decision-Making Process? *Journal of Consumer Behaviour*, 2(2), pp. 111-124.
- Charles, N. and Kerr, M. (1988) *Women, Food and Families*, Manchester: Manchester University Press.
- Chayanov, A.V. (1986). The Theory of Peasant Economy. Wisconsin: University of Wisconsin Press.
- Chiappori, P. (1988). Rational Household Labor Supply. Econometrica, 56(1): 63-89.
- Chiappori, P. and Donni, O. (2009) *Non-Unitary Models of Household Behavior: A Survey of The Literature* (No. 4603). IZA Discussion Papers.

- Chrisman J.J., Chua J.H. and Steier L. 2005. Sources and Consequences of Distinctive Familiness: An Introduction. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice* 29, no. 3: 237-247.
- Chua J, Chrisman J, and Sharma P, (1999). 'Defining the Family Business By Behavior',

 *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice 23: 19-39.
- Close, P. and Collins, R. (1985) Family and Economy in Modern Society, London:

 Macmillan.
- Clulow, C. (1993). New Families? Changes in Societies and Family Relationships. *Sexual and Marital Therapy*, 8(3), pp. 269-273.
- Coleman, S and Robb, A. (2016) Financing women owned firms:
- Corradin, S. and Popov, A. (2015). House Prices, Home Equity Borrowing, and Entrepreneurship. *The Review of Financial Studies*, 28,8: 2399-2428.
- Crow, G. (1989). The Use of the Concept of 'Strategy' in Recent Sociological Literature. Sociology, 23,1: 1-24.
- Cruz, C. Justo, R. and De Castro, J. (2012). 'Does Family Employment Enhance MSE Performance? Integrating Socioemotional Wealth and Family Embeddedness Perspectives'. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 27: 62-76.
- D'Haese, M. De Ruiter De Wildt, M. and Rubens, R. (2008). Business Incomes in Nicaragua:

 The Role of Household Resources, Location, Experience and Trust. Entrepreneurship
 and Regional Development, 20: 345-366.
- Dauphin, A. Lahga, E. Fortin, B. and Lacroix, G. (2011). Are Children Decision-Makers within the Household? *The Economic Journal*, Vol. 121(553), pp. 871-903.
- Davidsson, P. (2012). 'The Entrepreneurial Process'. In S. Carter and D. Jones Evans (Eds).
 Enterprise and Small Business: Principles, Practice and Policy. Harlow: Pearson, 95-119.

- Davidsson, P. and Honig, B. (2003). The Role of Social and Human Capital Among Nascent Entrepreneurs. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 18(3), pp. 301-331
- De Massis A, Sharma P, Chua J, and Chrisman J, (2012) *Family Business Studies: An Annotated Bibliography*. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing.
- DeTienne, D. and Wennburg, K. (eds) Research Text of Entrepreneurial Exit, London, Routledge.
- Devine, T. (1994) 'Changes in Wage-and-Salary Returns to Skill and the Recent Rise in Female Self-employment', *American Economic Review* 84: 108-113.
- Discua Cruz, A. Howorth, C. and Hamilton, E. (2013). 'Intrafamily Entrepreneurship: The Formation and Membership of Family Entrepreneurial Teams' *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice* 37: 17-46.
- Dixon, J. and Wetherell, M. (2004). On Discourse and Dirty Nappies: Gender, the Division of Household Labour and the Social Psychology of Distributive Justice. *Theory & Psychology*, 14, pp. 167–189.
- Doss, C. (1996) Testing Among Models of Intrahousehold Resource Allocation. *World Development*, 24(10): 1597–1609.
- Drago, R., Black, D., & Wooden, M. (2005). Female breadwinner families Their existence, persistence and sources. *Journal of Sociology*, 41(4), 343-362.
- Drew, E. and Humbert, A. (2012). 'Men Have Careers, Women Have Babies': Unequal

 Parental Care Among Irish Entrepreneurs. *Community, Work and Family*, 15,1: 49-67.
- Dwyer, D., and Bruce, J. (1988) *A Home Divided: Women and Income in the Third World*.

 California: Stanford University Press.
- Dy, A. M., Marlow, S., & Martin, L. (2016). A Web of opportunity or the same old story?
 Women digital entrepreneurs and intersectionality theory. *Human Relations*, doi: 0018726716650730.

- Dyer W, and Handler W, (1994). 'Entrepreneurship and Family Business: Exploring the Connections', *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice* 18: 71-83.
- Eikhof, D.R., Warhurst, C. and Haunschild, A. (2007). What Work? What Life? What Balance? Critical Reflections on the Work-Life Balance Debate. *Employee Relations* 29(4): 325-333.
- Ellickson, R. (2008). The Household: Informal Order around the Hearth. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Emerson, R.M. (1962) Power-dependence Relations. *American Sociological Review*, 27(1), pp. 31-41.
- Emerson, R.M. (1972) Exchange Theory Part I & II: *Sociological Theories In Progress*, 2, pp. 38-87.
- England, P., and Kilbourne, B.S. (1990) Markets, Marriages and Other Mates: The Problem of Power. In Friedland, R. And Robertson, A. (1990) *Beyond the Marketplace:**Rethinking Economy and Society. Transaction Publishers, pp. 163-189.
- Fairchild, G. (2008). Residential Segregation Influences on the Likelihood of Black and White Self-employment. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 23, 46-74.
- Fawcett Society, (2016), The Gender Pay Gap: Facts, causes and solutions, http://www.fawcettsociety.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/Gender-Pay-Gap-Briefing-2016.pdf
- Ferree, M. (1990) Beyond Separate Spheres: Feminism and Family Research. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 52: 866–884.
- Fine, C. (2010) Delusions of Gender, London, Icon Books.
- Feischer, M. and Massey, D. (2000) Residential Segregation and Ethnic Enterprise in U.S. Metropolitan Areas. *Social Problems*, 47, 3: 408-424.

- Flurry, L.A. (2007). Children's Influence in Family Decision-Making: Examining the Impact of the Changing American Family. *Journal of Business Research*, 60(4): 322-330.
- Flurry, L.A. and Burns, A.C., (2005) Children's Influence in Purchase Decisions: A Social Power Theory Approach. *Journal of Business Research*, 58(5): 593-601.
- Folbre, N. (1986). Hearts and Spades: Paradigms of Household Economics. *World Development*, 14(2), pp. 245–55.
- Folbre, N. (1995) 'Holding Hands at Midnight': The Paradox of Caring Labor. *Feminist Economics*, 1(1), pp. 73-92.
- Francisco, L. (1999). Kidding Around. Entrepreneur, 27(9), pp. 160-2.
- Friedmann, H. (1978) World Market, State, and Family Farm: Social Bases of Household
- Gentry, W. and Hubbard, R. (2004). 'Entrepreneurship and Household Saving', *Advances in Economic Analysis and Policy*, 4: 1–52.
- Gomez-Mejia, L. Haynes, K. Nunez-Nickel, M. Jaconson, K. Moyana-Fuentes, J. (2007).
 Socioemotional Wealth and Business Business Risks in Family-Controlled Firms:
 Evidence from Spanish Olive Oil Mills. Administrative Science Quarterly, 52, 1: 106-137.
- Gram, M. (2007) Children as Co-Decision Makers in the Family? The Case of Family Holidays. *Young Consumers*, 8(1), pp. 19-28.
- Granovetter, M. (1985) Economic action and Social Structure: The Problem of Embeddedness. *American Journal of Sociology*, 91: 253-294.
- Gras, D. and Nason, R. (2015). Bric by Bric: The Role of the Family Household in Sustaining a Venture in Impoverished Indian Slums. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 30,4: 546-563.

- Greene, F., Han, L., and Marlow, S. (2013) 'Like mother like daughter? Analysing maternal influences upon women's entrepreneurial propensity': *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*; 37 (4) 687 711
- Grint, K. (2005) The sociology of Work, London, Polity Press.
- Grunow, D., Schulz, F., & Blossfeld, H. P. (2012). What determines change in the division of housework over the course of marriage?. *International Sociology*, 27(3), 289-307.
- Gullestad M, (1984) 'Sosialantroplogiske Perspektiver på Famile og Hushold [Social
 Anthropological Perspectives on Family and Household]' in: Rudie. I. (ed). Myk start

 hard landing. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget
- Gurshuny, J. and Pahl, R. (1979) Work Outside Employment: Some Preliminary Speculations. *New Universities Quarterly*, 34, 120-135.
- Habbershon T.G. and Williams M.L. 1999. A Resource-Based Framework for Assessing the Strategic Advantages of Family Firms. *Family Business Review* 12, no. 1: 1-25.
- Hakim, C. (1996) Key Issues In Women's Work, London: Athlone.
- Hamilton, B. H. (2000). Does Entrepreneurship Pay? An Empirical Analysis of the Returns to Self-employment. *Journal of Political Economy*, 108 (3), pp. 604-631.
- Handler W, (1990) 'Succession in Family Firms: A Mutual Role Adjustment Between Entrepreneur and Next-Generation Family Members', Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice 15: 37-51.
- Hart, K. (1973). Informal Income Opportunities and Urban Employment in Ghana, *The Journal of Modern African Studies*, 11, 1: 61-89
- Henley, A. (2004). Self-employment status: The Role of State Dependence and Initial Circumstances. *Small Business Economics*, 22, 67-82.

- Hiebert, D. (1993), Jewish immigrants and the Garment Industry of Toronto, 1991-1931: A Study of Ethnic and Class Relations. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*, 83,2: 243-271.
- Holy L. (1996). Anthropological Perspectives on Kinship. London: Pluto Press.
- Horrell, S. (1994). Household Time Allocation and Women's Labour Force Participation, In J. Gershuny, M. Anderson and F. Bechhofer (Eds) *The Social and Political Economy* of the Household, Oxford University Press, pp.198-224.
- http://www.gemconsortium.org/report/49480. Accessed September 2016.
- Iacobucci, D and Rosa, P (2010). 'The Growth of Business Groups by Habitual Entrepreneurs: The Role of Entrepreneurial Teams', Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice 34: 351-377.
- James A, Jennings J, and Breitkreuz R (2012) 'Worlds Apart?: Rebridging the Distance

 Between Family Science and Family Business Research', *Family Business Review* 25:

 87-108.
- Janssens, A. (1997). The rise and decline of the male breadwinner family? An overview of the debate. *International Review of Social History*, 42(S5), 1-23.
- Jennings J, Breitkreuz R, and James A (2013) 'When Family Members Are Also Business
 Owners: Is Entrepreneurship Good For Families?' *Family Relations*, 62, 472-489.
- John, D.R. (1999). Consumer Socialization Of Children: A Retrospective Look At Twenty-Five Years Of Research. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 26(3), 183-213.
- Kay, A. (2009). The Foundations of Female Entrepreneurship: Enterprise, Home and Household in London C.1800-1870. Abingdon: Routledge.
- Kelley, D. Singer, S. and Herrington, M. (2016). Global Entrepreneurship Monitor 2015/2016Global Report. Babson College: Global Entrepreneurship Research Association.

- Kibria N, (1994) 'Household Structure and Family Ideologies: The Dynamics of Immigrant Economic Adaptation Among Vietnamese Refugees'. *Social Problems*, 41: 81–96.
- Kim P, Longest K, and Aldrich H, (2013) 'Can You Lend Me a Hand? Task-Role Alignment of Social Support for Aspiring Business Owners' *Work and Occupations* Online first DOI:10.1177/0730888413481365
- Kirzner I, (1985) Discovery and the Capitalist Process, Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Klasen, S. Lamanna, F. (2009), "The Impact of Gender Inequality in Education and Employment on Economic Growth: New Evidence for a Panel of Countries." *Feminist Economics* 15(3): 91–132.
- Knights, D. and Morgan, G. (1990). The Concept of Strategy in Sociology: A Note of Dissent. *Sociology*, 24, 475-484.
- Kolankiewicz, G. (1996). Social Capital and Social Change. *British Journal of Sociology*, 47, 3: 427-441.
- Kolvereid, L. (1996). Organizational Employment versus Self-employment: Reasons for Career Choice Intentions. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 20: 23-31.
- Koslow, S., & Booth, H. (2012). Generation boomerang: children who go back to mum and dad. *The Guardian (On line 24 August 2012). Available: http://www. guardian. co. uk/lifeandstyle/2012/aug/24/generation-boomerangadultescents.* Accessed September 2016
- Kuhl, A. (2015) How do they manage? Financial allocation systems and power relations within entrepreneurial households. Presented to the Academy of Management Doctoral Consortium, Vancouver.
- Kuhl, A. (2016) How entrepreneurship affects families: Financial management practice of entrepreneurial households. Presented to the DIANA International Research Conference, Bodo: Norway.

- Labour Force Survey: Trends in Self-Employment:
 - http://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentande mployeetypes/articles/trendsinselfemploymentintheuk/2001to2015 accessed September 2016.
- Laspita, S. Breugst, N. Heblich, S. and Patzelt, H. (2012). Intergenerational Transmission of Entrepreneurial Intentions. Journal of Business Venturing, 27: 414-435.
- Laurie, H., and Gershuny, J. (2000) Couples, work and money. In Berthoud, R., and Gershuny, J. (eds.) Seven years in the lives of British families: Evidence on the dynamics of social change from the British household panel survey, Bristol: The Policy Press, pp. 45-72.
- LeBlanc, C (2015) Why the Rise of DIY Business Tools Is Good for Women Business

 Owners. *Huffington Post.* 29 Jan. [online] Available at:

 http://www.huffingtonpost.com/cat-leblanc/why-the-rise-of-diy-business-tools-is-good-for-women-business-owners_b_6544782.html. Accessed September 28th 2016.
- Lee, C.K. and Beatty, S.E. (2002) Family Structure and Influence in Family Decision Making. *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, 19(1), 24-41.
- Levie, J. and Lichtenstein, B. B. (2010), A Terminal Assessment of Stages Theory:

 Introducing a Dynamic States Approach to Entrepreneurship. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 34: 317–350.
- Lim J, Busenitz L, and Chidambaram L, (2013) 'New Venture Teams and the Quality of Business Opportunities Identified: Faultlines Between Subgroups of Founders and Investors', Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice, 37: 47-67.
- Lindquist, M, Sol, J. & van Praag, C.M. (2015), Why do Entrepreneurial Parents have Entrepreneurial Children? Journal of Labor Economics, 33 (2), 2015, pp. 269-296.

- Lindquist, M, Sol, J, van Praag, M, Vladasel, T. (2016). On the Origins of Entrepreneurship:

 Evidence from Sibling Correlations. London, Centre for Economic Policy Research.
- Long, N (1979) 'Multiple Enterprise in the Central Highlands of Peru', in Greenfield, S.
 Strickon, A. and Aubey, R. (eds.) Entrepreneurs in Cultural Context, Albuquerque:
 New Mexico Press.
- Lundberg, S., and Pollak, R. (1993) Separate Spheres Bargaining and the Marriage Market. *Journal of Political Economy*, 101(6), pp. 988-1010.
- Lundberg, S., and Pollak, R. (1996) Bargaining and Distribution in Marriage. *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 10(4), pp. 139-158.
- Malinowski, B. (1921) The Primitive Economics of the Trobriand Islanders. *The Economic Journal*, 31(121), pp. 1-16.
- Manser, M., and Brown, B. (1980) Marriage and Household Decision Making: A Bargaining Analysis. *International Economic Review*, 21(1), pp. 31-44.
- Marlow, S, (2016) Rethinking the gender agenda in entrepreneurship: Time to 'queer the pitch'? Paper to the XXX RENT Conference, Antwerp, November 17th-18th.
- Marlow, S., Greene, F. And Coad, A. (2016) Queering The Agenda? A Critical Evaluation Of Contemporary Assumptions Underpinning The Influence Of Gender Stereotypes

 Upon Entrepreneurial Activity. Paper to the 36th Babson Conference, Bodo, Norway.

 June 8th 11th.
- Marlow, S. and Swail, J. (2015), Re-evaluating Business Exit from a Gendered Perspective in DeTienne, D. and Wennburg, K. (eds) Research Text of Entrepreneurial Exit, London, Routledge.
- Marx, K. (2005). Das capital. Volume 1. Translated by Samuel Moore and Edward Aveling. *The Marx-Engels Reader*, 439-442.

- Mason, C. and Reuschke, D. (2015). *Home Truths: The True Value of Home-based Businesses*. Report for the Federation of Small Businesses Scotland.
- Mason, D. Reuschke, S. Syrett and M. van Ham (Eds). (2015) Entrepreneurship in Cities:

 Neighbourhoods, Households and Homes, Edward Elgar, pp.201-222
- Mason, C. Carter, S. and Tagg, S. (2011) Invisible Businesses: The Characteristics of Home-based Businesses in the United Kingdom, *Regional Studies*, 45,5: 625-639.
- Mayall, B. (2013). A History of the Sociology of Childhood [IOE Press advance information].
- McCrone, D. (1994). Getting By and Making Out in Kirkcaldy. In M. Anderson, F. Bechhofer, and J. Gershuny (1994) (Eds.) *The Social and Political Economy of the Household*. Oxford, Oxford University Press, pp. 68-99.
- McElroy, M., and Horney, M. (1981) Nash Bargained Household Decisions. *International Economic Review*, 22(2), pp. 333-49.
- McKeevor, E. Jack, S. and Anderson, A. (2015) Embedded Entrepreneurship in the Creative Re-construction of Place. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 30, 50-65.
- Messer, E. (1990) Intra-Household Allocation of Resources: Perspectives from

 Anthropology, In Intra- Household Resource Allocation, Tokyo: United Nations

 University Press, 1990.
- Meyers, T. (2004). Kids Gaining Voice in How Home Looks. Advertising Age, 75(13):S4.
- Mincer, J. (1962) Labor Force Participation of Married Women: A Study of Labor Supply. *In Aspects of Labor Economics* (pp. 63-105). Princeton University Press.
- Mingione, E. (1985) Social Reproduction of the Surplus Labour Force. *In Beyond Employment: Gender Household and Subsistence*, edited by N. Redclift and E. Mingione, Oxford: Blackwell.
- Moran-Ellis, J. (2010) Reflections on the Sociology of Childhood in the UK. *Current Sociology*, 58(2), pp. 186-205.

- Mulholland K, (1996) 'Gender Power and Property Relations within Entrepreneurial Wealthy Families', *Gender, Work and Organization* 3: 78-102.
- Mulholland, K. (1997) 'The Family Enterprise and Business Strategies', *Work, Employment and Society* 11: 685-711.
- Mwaura, S. and Carter, S. (2015). 'Entrepreneurship as the Business of the Household'. In C..
- Nanda, R. (2008). Cost of External Finance and Selection into Entrepreneurship. HBS

 Entrepreneurial Management Working Paper 08/047, Cambridge, MA: Harvard

 Business School.
- Nash, J. (1950) The Bargaining Problem. Econometrica, 18(1):155-62.
- Newbert S, and Tornikoski E, (2013) 'Resource Acquisition in the Emergence Phase:

 Considering the Effects of Embeddedness and Resource Dependence'.

 Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice, 37: 249-280.
- Nicolaou, N. and Shane, S. (2009). Can Genetic Factors Influence the likelihood of Engaging in Entrepreneurial Activity? *Journal of Business Venturing*, 24, 1-22.
- Oakley, A. (2015). Sex, Gender and Society. Ashgate Publishing, Ltd..
- Ogbor, J. O. (2000), Mythicizing and Reification in Entrepreneurial Discourse: Ideology-Critique of Entrepreneurial Studies. *Journal of Management Studies*, 37: 605–635.
- Oughton, E. and Wheelock, J. (2006) The relationship between consumption and production.

 Conceptualizing well-being inside the household, in Ethics and the Market, London:

 Routledge.
- Pahl, J. (1989) Money and Marriage. Macmillan, London.
- Pahl, J. (2008) Family Finances, Individualisation, Spending Patterns and Access to Credit. *Journal of Socio-Economics*, 37(2): 577-591.
- Pahl, R. (1984) Divisions of Labour, Oxford: Blackwell.

- Parker, S. (1997). The Distribution of Self-employment Income in the United Kingdom, 1976-1991. *The Economic Journal* 107: 455-466.
- Parker, S. (2005). Entrepreneurship Among Married Couples in the United States: A

 Simultaneous Probit Approach. IZA Discussion Paper Series No, 1712, Bonn:

 Forschungsinstitut zur Zukunft der Arbeit (Institute for the Study of Labor).
- Parsons, T. (1944) The Social Structure of The Family, In R. N. Anshen (Ed.), *The Family: Its Function and Destiny* (pp. 173–201). New York: Harper.
- Pearson A.W., Carr J.C. and Shaw J.C. (200). Toward a Theory of Familiness: A Social Capital Perspective. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice* 32, no. 6: 949-969.
- Pessar, P. (1988) The Constrains on and Reliance of Female Labor Power: Dominican Migration to the United States. In Dwyer, D., and Bruce, J. (1988), *A Home Divided:*Women and Income in the Third World, California: Stanford University Press, pp. 195-215.
- Piirainen, T. (1997). Towards a New Social Order in Russia: Transforming Structures and Everyday Life. Aldershot: Dartmouth.
- Pollak, R. (1994) For Better or Worse: The Roles of Power in Models of Distribution Within Marriage. *The American Economic Review*, 84(2), pp. 148-152.
- Portes, A. and Jensen, L. (1989). The Enclave and the Entrants: Patterns of Ethnic Enterprise in Miami Before and After Mariel. *American Sociological Review*, 54, 6: 929-949.
- Powell, G. N., & Greenhaus, J. H. (2010). Sex, gender, and decisions at the family→ work interface. *Journal of Management*, *36*(4), 1011-1039.
- Production in the Era of Wage Labor, *Comparative Studies in Society and History*, 20(4), pp. 545 586
- Quadrini, V. (2000). Entrepreneurship, Saving, and Mobility. *Review of Economic Dynamics*, 3, 1-40.

- Ram M, (2001) 'Family Dynamics in a Small Consultancy Firm', *Human Relations*, 54: 395-418.
- Ram, M. Abbas, T. Jones, T. Sanghere, B. and Barlow, G (2000). Making the link:

 Households and Small Business Activity in a Multi-Ethnic Context. *Community,*Work & Family, 4,3: 327-348.
- Rees Jones, S., Riddy, F., Beattie, C., Carpenter, C., Holford, M., McClure, L., Williams, S., Rimmer, J., Goldberg, J., Hamblen, B. and Davis, I. (2007). The Later Medieval English Urban Household. *History Compass*, 5(1), pp. 112-158.
- Reid, M. (1934). Economics of Household Production. New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Renzulli L, Aldrich H, and Moody J, (2000) 'Family Matters: Gender, Networks, and Entrepreneurial Outcomes', *Social Forces* 79: 523–546.
- Reuschke, D. and Houston, D. (2016). The Importance of Housing and Neighbourhood resources for Urban Microbusinesses. *European Planning Studies*, 24,6: 1216-1235.
- Reuschke, D. and MacLennon, D. (2014). Housing Assets and Small Business Investment: Exploring Links for Theory and Practice. *Regional Studies*, 48,4: 744-757.
- Rodriguez, P. Tiggle, C. and Hackett, S. (2009). An Exploratory Study of how Potential 'Family and Household Capital' Impacts New Venture Start-Up Rates. *Family Business Review*, 22, 3, 259-272.
- Ronsen, M. (2014). Children and Family: A Barrier or an Incentive to Female Selfemployment in Norway? *International Labour Review*, 153, 2: 337-350.
- Rouse, J. Treanor, L. and Fleck, E. (2013). The Gendering of Entrepreneurship: Theoretical and Empirical Insights. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behaviour & Research*. 19(5): 452-459.
- Rowbotham, S., 1976. *Hidden from history: Rediscovering women in history from the 17th century to the present* (Vol. 621). Vintage Books USA.

- Roy S. (2004). The Littlest Consumers. Display & Design Ideas, 16(7):18-9.
- Samuelson, P. (1956) *Social Indifference Curves*. Quarterly Journal of Economics, 70(1), 1-22.
- Sarasvathy S, Dew N, Velamuri S, and Venkataraman, S. (2011) 'Three Views of Entrepreneurial Opportunity', in: Acs Z. and Audretsch D. (eds.) *Handbook of Entrepreneurship Research: An Interdisciplinary Survey And Introduction*. New York: Springer, 77-96.
- Schjoedt L, Monsen E, Pearson A, et al. (2013) 'New Venture and Family Business Teams:

 Understanding Team Formation, Composition, Behaviors, and Performance'.

 Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice, 37: 1-15.
- Sen, A. (1985), Wellbeing, Agency and Freedom: The Dewey Lectures 1984. *Journal of Philosophy*, 82: 169-221.
- Sen, A. (1999) Development as Freedom. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Shane, S. (2008). The Illusions of Entrepreneurship: The Costly Myths that Entrepreneurs,

 Investors and Policymakers Live By. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Shane, S. and Venkataraman, S. (2000). 'The Promise of Entrepreneurship as a Field of Research', *Academy of Management Review* 25: 217-226.
- Shepherd, D. (2016). An Emotions Perspective for adbvancing the Field of Family Business and Entrepreneurship: Stocks, Flows, Reactions, and Responses. *Family Business Review*, 29, 2: 151–158
- Sieger P, Zellweger T, Nason R, and Clinton E (2011) 'Portfolio Entrepreneurship in Family Firms: A Resource-Based Perspective'. *Strategic Entrepreneurship Journal* 5: 327-351.
- Sonnenberg, S. (2008) Household financial organisation and discursive practice: Managing money and identity. *The Journal of Socio-Economics*, 37, pp. 533 551.

- Spaargaren, G., & Van Vliet, B. (2000). Lifestyles, consumption and the environment: The ecological modernization of domestic consumption. *Environmental politics*, 9(1), 50-76.
- Stamp, P. (1985) Balance of Financial Power in Marriage: An Exploratory Study of Breadwinning Wives. *Sociological Review*, 33, pp. 546–567.
- Steier, L, Chua, J, and Chrisman, J (2009) 'Embeddedness Perspectives of Economic Action Within Family Firms', *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice* 33: 1157-1167.
- Steier, L. (2009). Where do New firms Come From? Households, Family Capital, Ethnicity, and the Welfare Mix. *Family Business Review*, 22:3, 273-278.
- Stewart, A. (2003) 'Help One Another, Use One Another: Toward an Anthropology of Family Business', *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice* 27: 383-396.
- Stewart, A. and Hitt, M. (2012). 'Why Can't a Family Business Be More Like a Nonfamily Business? Modes of Professionalization in Family Firms' *Family Business Review*, 25,1: 58-86.
- Steyaert, C. (2007). 'Entrepreneuring'as a conceptual attractor? A review of process theories in 20 years of entrepreneurship studies. *Entrepreneurship and regional development*, 19(6), 453-477.
- Storey, D. (1994). Understanding the Small Business Sector. London: Routledge.
- Storey, D. J. (2011). Optimism and chance: The elephants in the entrepreneurship room. *International Small Business Journal*, 29 (1) 5 26.
- Sturm, R. and Antonakis, J.(2015). Interpersonal Power: A Review, Critique and Research Agenda. *Journal of Management*, 41,1: 136-163.
- Swedberg, R. (2011). *The Household Economy: A Complement or Alternative to the Market Economy?* Center for the Study of Economy and Society, CSES Working Paper Series (58), 1-39.

- Tadmor, N. (1996). The Concept of the Household-Family in Eighteenth-Century England.

 Past & Present, (151), pp. 111-140.
- Tichenor, V. (1999) Status and income as gendered resources: the case of marital power. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 61, pp. 638–650.
- Ucbasaran D, Alsos G, Westhead P, and Wright M, (2008) 'Habitual Entrepreneurs', Foundations and Trends in Entrepreneurship 4: 309-450.
- Ucbasaran D, Westhead P, Wright M, and Binks, M. (2003) 'Does Entrepreneurial

 Experience Influence Opportunity Identification?' *The Journal of Private Equity* 7:7
 14.
- Ulph, D. (1988). A General Noncooperative Nash Model of Household Consumption

 Behavior. Working Paper, Dept. of Economics, University of Bristol.
- Valdez, Z. (2016). Intersectionality, the Household Economy and Ethnic Entrepreneurship. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 39,9: 1618-1636.
- Vogler, C. (1994) Money in the household. In: Anderson, M., Bechhofer, F., and Gershuny, J. (Eds.), *The Social and Political Economy of the Household*. Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp. 225–266.
- Vogler, C. (1998). Money in the Household: Some Underlying Issues of Power. *Sociological Review*, 46, pp. 687–713.
- Vogler, C. and Pahl, J. (1993) Social and Economic Change and the Organisation of Money Within Marriage. *Work, Employment & Society*, 7, pp. 71–95.
- Vogler, C. and Pahl, J. (1994) Money, Power and Inequality Within Marriage. *Sociological Review*, 42, pp. 263–288.
- Vogler, C., Brockmann, M. and Wiggins, R. (2006) Intimate Relationships and Changing Patterns of Money Management at the Beginning of the 21st Century. *British Journal* of Sociology, 3, pp. 455–482.

- Wallace C, (2002) 'Household Strategies: Their Conceptual Relevance and Analytical Scope in Social Research', Institute for Advanced Studies Vienna, 1-21.
- Warde, A. (1990). Household Work Strategies and Forms of Labour: Conceptual and Empirical Issues. *Work, Employment & Society*, 4,4: 495-515.
- Warhurst, C. Eikhof, D.R. and Haunschild, A. (2008). Out of Balance or Just Out of Bounds?

 Analysing the Relationship Between Work and Life. In C. Warhurst, D.R. Eikhof and

 A. Haunschild (eds) Work Less, Live More? Critical Analyses of the Work-Life

 Boundary. London: Palgrave.
- Weber, M. (1968) Economy and Society, NY.: Bedminster Press.
- Welter, F. (2011). 'Contextualizing Entrepreneurship Conceptual Challenges and Ways Forward'. Entrepreneurship, Theory and Practice, 35, 165-184.
- Wheelock, J and Mariussen, Å (1997). *Household, Work and Economic Change: A Comparative Perspective*. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Wheelock, J and Oughton, E (1996) 'The Household as a Focus for Research' *Journal of Economic Issues* 30(1): 143-159.
- Wiborg A (1995) Mellom Økonomisk Fornuft, Livsstil og Symboler Bygdehushold i Endring. [Between Economic Rationality, Lifestyle and Symbols, Rural Households in Change] NF-rapport 4/95 Bodø: Nordland Research Institute.
- Wiklund, J and Shepherd, D (2008) 'Portfolio Entrepreneurship: Habitual and Novice Founders, New Entry, and Mode of Organizing', *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice* 32: 701-725.
- Wilk, R. (1989). *The Household Economy: Reconsidering the Domestic Mode of Production*.

 Boulder: Westview Press.
- Wooley, F. (1988) *A Non-cooperative Model of Family Decision Making*. TIDI Working Paper 125, London School of Economics.

- Yilmazer, T. and Schrank, H. (2006). Financial Intermingling in Small Family Businesses.

 Journal of Business Venturing, 21: 726-751.
- Zahra, S. (2007). 'Contextualizing Theory Building in Entrepreneurship'. *Journal of Business Venturing*. 22, 443-452.
- Zelizer, V. (1997) *The Social Meaning of Money: Pin Money, Paychecks, Poor Relief, and Other Currencies.* Princeton: Princeton University Press.